# GITCON<sup>™</sup> Access Management Software Version 2.0 USER'S GUIDE



The *Gitcon Access Management Software User's Guide* is a publication of Kaba Mas LLC (referred to as Kaba Mas).

No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without prior written permission from Kaba Mas.

The information contained in this publication is accurate to the best of Kaba Mas's knowledge. Specifications are subject to change without notice.

#### **Trademarks**

The following items are trademarks or registered trademarks of Kaba Mas in the United States and/or other countries.

GITCON

#### **Customer Service/Technical Support**

Please call Kaba Mas's Technical Support phone line at (800) 950-4744 or (888) 950-4715.



Kaba Mas LLC 749 W. Short Street Lexington, KY 40508 Phone: (888) 950-4715 or (859) 253-4744 Fax: (800) 255-2655 www.kaba-mas.com

> Document: PKG 605.106 Rev. E © 2008 Kaba Mas LLC

# **Table of Contents**

| 1 | Getting Started                                      | 1–1          |
|---|--|--------------|
|   | System Components                                    | 1–2          |
|   | Lock Units   |              |
|   | PC and Access Management Software                    | 1–2          |
|   | Desktop Reader and Transponders                      | 1–2          |
|   | Pocket PC and Software                               | 1–2          |
|   | System Definitions                                   | 1–3          |
|   | Client ApplicationPrerequisites                      | 1–3          |
|   | PC Hardware  | 1–3          |
|   | Software   | 1–4          |
|   | Pocket PC  | 1–4          |
|   | Quick Start Guide                                    | 1–4          |
|   | Setting Up Your Organization                         | 1–5          |
| r | About the Giteen Access Management Software          | 2 1          |
| 2 | The Citeon Access Management Software                | ۲−۲.<br>ر د  |
|   | Citeon Access Management Software Layout             | ∠−∠          |
|   | Softing Up the Software                              | 2–2–2<br>ح د |
|   | <u>Setting Up the Software Options</u>               | ۲–۲<br>حرح   |
|   | Customizing Software Licere                          | ۲−∠۲         |
|   | Managing Covernment Override Codes                   | 2 10−2       |
|   | Managing Government Overnde Codes                    | ۲۲–۲۲        |
|   | Renaming a Server                                    |              |
|   | Commissioning a Decket PC                            | 2 14–2       |
|   | Continustioning a Pocket PC                          | Z—14         |
|   | Creating the Pocket PC Opload File                   |              |
|   | ActiveSyncing the Pocket PC                          |              |
| 3 | Using the Gitcon Access Management Software          | 3–1          |
|   | Unit Explorer View                                   | 3–2          |
|   | Unit Explorer Toolbar                                |              |
|   | Building the Database Structure with Levels          | 3–4          |
|   | <u>Managing Lock Units</u>                           |              |
|   | Iransponder Template Explorer View                   |              |
|   | New Transponder Template Button                      |              |
|   | Managing Transponder Templates                       |              |
|   | Person Explorer View                                 |              |
|   | Person Explorer Toolbar                              |              |
|   | Managing Persons and Person Groups                   |              |
|   | Assigning Transponder Templates to Persons.          |              |
|   | Programming Transponder Cards                        |              |
|   | Managing Physical Transponders                       |              |
|   | Auditing and Reporting                               |              |
|   | <u>Creating and Printing Reports</u>                 |              |
|   | Viewing Audits                                       |              |
|   | Dacking Up and Restoring the Database                |              |
|   | Downloading and installing Management Studio Express |              |
| 4 | Operating the Lock                                   | 4–1          |
|   | Overview of the Lock                                 | 4–2          |
|   | Security Operating Method                            | 4–2          |
|   | LED Indicators and Display                           | 4–2          |
|   | Verifying the Lock Seal                              | 4–2          |
|   | Operating Procedure                                  | 4–2          |
|   | G-2, PIN Mode  |              |
|   | G-2, Transponder (TAG) Mode                          | 4–4          |

|   | G-152, G-154, PIN Mode                        |      |
|---|---|------|
|   | G-152, G-154, Transponder (TAG) Mode          | 4–7  |
|   | Government Access Codes                       |      |
|   | Managing Super Master Codes                   | 4–11 |
| 5 | Programming and Auditing Locks                | 5–1  |
|   | The Pocket PC                                 |      |
|   | Starting the Gitcon Software on the Pocket PC |      |
|   | Connecting to the Lock Unit                   |      |
|   | Programming the Lock                          |      |
|   | Updating the Lock                             | 5–7  |
|   | Auditing the Lock                             |      |
|   | Setting Up the Audit Parameters               |      |
|   | Taking Audits                                 | 5–10 |
|   | Viewing Audit Data                            | 5–11 |
|   | Deleting Audits                               |      |
|   | Managing Manifests                            | 5–14 |
|   | Creating Email Audit Event Triggers           | 5-18 |

# 1

# Getting Started

The Gitcon Access Control System is a sophisticated, yet easy to use, system for monitoring access to doors on Sea Containers, Intermodal, Truck/Trailer, Reefer, and Dry Containers. The system's two easily identifiable parts are the lock units and the database system. The lock units are programmable, digital units that will allow certain accesses and record all activities that transpire. The database system is a SQL database that resides in an application on a server that tracks all of the lock units and their activities, in addition to the people with those accesses and their access codes and/or transponder cards.

Since the application database system contains all of the data and records, all lock, user, transponder, and reporting/auditing configuration takes place there. You can access and configure the database through the Gitcon Access Management Software. The information from this database is transferred to the lock units either by transponder cards (usually used to allow individual access) or a Pocket PC (a PPC is used to program lock units or download reports and audits from units).

This chapter is broken down in to the following sections.

- System Components
- System Definitions
- Client Application Prerequisites
- Quick Start Guide
- Managing Software Users
- Setting Up Your Organization

# **System Components**

Now that we have laid the groundwork for the Gitcon Access Control System, let us address the parts of the system individually. The Gitcon Access Control System contains the following system components.

- Lock Units (G2 and/or G152 locks)
- PC and Access Management Software
- Desktop Reader and Transponders
- Pocket PC and Software

# **Lock Units**

The Gitcon G2 (portable) and G152 (fixed mount) are sealable locks applied to the existing door hardware on Sea Container, Intermodal, Truck/Trailer, Reefer, and Dry Container applications. The G2 and G152 are an electro-mechanical lock and electronic seal that stores access events that can be downloaded to the Access Management Software for audit. The Access Management Software provides a method to program the unit for operation within various access control parameters

The G2 and G152 door lock units are designed to limit and control entry to a container or trailer using a numeric combination (Super Master Code or SMC) entered through the keypad or the presentation of a transponder card. The locks are designed to work in conjunction with the Gitcon Access Management Software through a handheld Pocket PC to transfer information between the desktop PC and the lock.

# PC and Access Management Software

The database of lock units, persons, and transponder templates is housed on a desktop or laptop PC that runs as a server in conjunction with the Gitcon Access Management Software. This software application allows you to configure locks, manage lock users, assign access templates, and program the physical transponder cards.

# **Desktop Reader and Transponders**

The PC Desktop Reader is used with the PC software application to program transponders. The Desktop Reader connects to the PC that is running the Access Management Software. The system administrator uses the Desktop Reader to program and manage Transponder cards for user access.

# **Pocket PC and Software**

The Gitcon PPC software is installed on the Pocket PC and allows for programming (uploading) and auditing (downloading) of data to and from the lock. It also allows for the download of lock audit data from the lock to use for reporting purposes at the PC.

# **System Definitions**

This section contains system definitions for the following items.

- **System Administrator** The system administrator sets up and installs the Gitcon Access Control System and oversees the construction and maintenance of the database. This includes administering software users, creating the database structure, configuring the lock, transponder, and lock user information, and producing and administering transponders.
- Pocket PC This is the handheld Pocket PC that is used to program (upload) and audit (download) data to and from the lock. The Pocket PC is synchronized with the PC so that the latest database information is updated to the lock, and so that the PC contains the latest lock audit information needed to run reports.
- **Smart Phone** Same functions as a Pocket PC. The phone must be IrDA capable and run Windows Mobile (version 5.0 or greater.)
- **Unit** This is the default term for the lock. The Unit is the fundamental part of the Gitcon Access Control System.
- **Transponder Template** This is a template of access data that can be linked or copied to a Person or Person Group.
- **Transponder** This is the physical access card that is programmed from a Transponder Template and issued to the Person or lock user. The system administrator programs transponders using the PC Desktop Reader. The transponder is the primary access credential when a lock is programmed as a "Sealable Lock".
- **Person** This is the default term for the lock user.
- Super Master Code (SMC) These are access codes that allow users access to a lock unit in lieu of a transponder card. Each lock unit can contain between 1 and 30 randomly generated SMCs. A Super Master Code is the primary access credential when a lock is programmed as a "Lockable Electronic Seal".
- •
- **Government Override Codes (GOC)** This is a code that will indicate that a government agency accessed the lock unit. These codes do not allow access, but merely indicate that a government body accessed the unit.

# **Client Application Prerequisites**

# Minimum Requirements.

PC Hardware:

- IBM compatible PC, capable of running Windows XP Professional, Service Pack 2 or greater.
- Minimum of 512 MB RAM
- CD-ROM drive

#### Getting Started

- Hard disc drive with at least 5 gigabytes (GB) of free disk space
- Network connection (for access to a remote RDBMS)
- Two available USB ports
- Monitor with a minimum resolution of 1024x760

#### Software:

- Windows 2000 Professional (Service Pack 3 or greater) or Windows XP Professional (Service Pack 2 or greater)
- Administrator access to a locally or remotely installed relational database
   management system (RDBMS) (Microsoft SQL Server 2005 Express Edition or Microsoft
   SQL Server 2005 only)

#### Pocket PC/Smart Phone

- Microsoft Windows Mobile 5.0 (or greater) for Pocket PC, Premium Edition
- 416Mhz processor or greater
- 64MB SDRAM memory or greater
- USB Sync cradle or cable
- HP iPaq models recommended
- Devices must be IrDA capable

# **Quick Start Guide**

Complete this Quick Start Guide to quickly set up the Gitcon Access Control System if you are already familiar with previous versions of the Gitcon Access Control System or similar products, for example, if you have upgraded from a previous version. If you have never used the Gitcon Access Control System or a similar product, continue to **Setting Up Your Organization**.

Complete the following steps to quickly set up your Gitcon Access Control System.

- 1. Ensure that you have already installed Microsoft ActiveSync on your PC and your Pocket PC and that your Pocket PC communicates (Synchronizes) to your PC without any problem. Your Pocket PC must also be set with the correct date and time. (see Section 2. pg. 14)
- Install the Gitcon Access Management Software, including all of the peripheral applications, using the Gitcon Access Management Software Installation CD-ROM. Refer to the Gitcon Access Management Software help screens.
- 3. Install the PC Desktop Reader and its driver.
- 4. ActiveSync the Gitcon PPC application to your Pocket PC. Refer to **Commissioning a Pocket PC** in this chapter for more information.
- 5. Organize the structure of your database as it pertains to the structure of your organization and the lock units in service. It is best to outline the structure on paper before creating it in the database. Refer to **Setting Up Your Organization** for more information.

- 6. Click the **GITCON 2.0** icon on your PC desktop to run the software.
- 7. Customize the Software Settings by defining the terms that will be used for the components of your database and setting how the database's clock will be set.
- 8. Ensure that the Pocket PC/cradle and the PC Desktop Reader devices are connected to your PC.
- 9. Create your organization in the software as you have outlined it in step 3.
  - a. Create database levels for the Unit database.
  - b. Create and configure your lock Units.
  - c. Create Transponder Templates.
  - d. Create Persons (lock users) and Person Groups.
- 10. Assign Transponder Templates to Person Groups or Persons.
- 11. Program transponder cards and distribute them to your lock users.
- 12. Create the Pocket PC Commissioning File.
- 13. Create the Pocket PC Upload File.
- 14. Synchronize the Pocket PC with the PC.

*Important:* Ensure that the actual lock to be programmed is properly installed and initialized as per the Installation Instructions that came with the lock.

- 15. Similarly, go to the desired lock units and audit the required locks in your organization.
- Bring the Pocket PC back to your Gitcon Access Control System PC station, synchronize the audit information back to the PC, and view and/or print the lock audits you just downloaded.

# **Setting Up Your Organization**

Before you even begin the Gitcon Access Management Software, you should have a clear outline of your organization as it pertains to the locks, lock users, the different types of accesses, and the structural hierarchy of these things as well.

There should only be a single system administrator who uses the Gitcon Access Management Software to track the lock units, transponders and templates, and users. If there are no clear-cut regions and locations in your organization, it is up to the system administrator to determine how lock units will be grouped.

The system administrator should map out all of the lock units that will be in service and effectively group them into Unit Groups, Locations, and Regions as they relate to the organization. All of the lock users will also need to be identified and put into Person Groups where applicable. This will serve to facilitate the entry of the Unit and Person information into the database once it has been installed.

The following levels of structure are available for your organization in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

- Region
  - o Location
    - Unit Group
      - Unit
- Person Group
  - o Person

It is up to the system administrator to determine what terminology is to be used for the database levels/units. The following are default terms that can be customized in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

- Region
- Location
- Unit Group
- Unit
- Person Group
- Person
- Transponder

Refer to **Setting Up the Software** for more information on customizing these terms as they appear in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

**Note:** This User's Guide uses the default terms in relation to these various units and levels of the database.

# 2 About the Gitcon Access Management Software

Besides the physical locks, the Gitcon Access Management Software is the most integral part of the Gitcon Access Control System. This powerful tool allows you to maintain several databases to easily manage lock data, lock user profiles, access templates for transponder cards, and action audit data for your entire organization.

Because it is such a complex tool, this chapter will show you the basics behind the software, including getting started with the software, customizing options and adding users, and interacting with the Pocket PC. In the next chapter, you will learn how to use the software to manage your lock units, lock users, and access templates. This chapter is broken down into the following sections.

- The Gitcon Access Management Software
- Setting Up the Software
- Interfacing with the Pocket PC

# **The Gitcon Access Management Software**

You can start the Gitcon Access Management Software on the PC by clicking the **GITCON 2.0** icon on the desktop.



# **Gitcon Access Management Software Layout**

Once you have opened the Gitcon Access Management Software, the system displays the default **Unit Explorer** view.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa   | ire             |               |            |           |            | - O X            |
|-----------------------------------|-----------------|---------------|------------|-----------|------------|------------------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows He | 🖗 🗕 Menu Ba     | r             |            |           | Toolbar    |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | ~ ~        |           |            |                  |
|                                   | - 😏 🕼 🔝 [       | <u> </u>      | <b>通</b> 前 |           |            |                  |
| 🖂 🏣 Al Servers                    |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
| E- SERVER A                       | Location        | n: SERVER A   |            | – Head    | ər         |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | /          |           |            |                  |
| ▲                                 | 🗧 Unit 🔿        | License Plate | Туре 🗄     | Region -  | Location 8 | Unit Group 🔅     |
|                                   | 100001          | 1             | G-152      | Southeast | Mobile     | Commercial Fleet |
|                                   | 00002           | 2             | G-2        | Southeast | Mobile     | Commercial Freet |
|                                   | Freighter 100   | ATL100        | G-152      | Southeast | Atlanta    | Atlanta Fleet    |
|                                   | Hreighter 101   | ATL101        | G-2        | Southeast | Atlanta    | Atlanta Heet     |
| Tiee Alea                         | Joes inde Truck | PT2387        | G-2        | Southeast | Abanca     |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           | _          |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | <b></b>    |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | Detail A   | rea       |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | -          |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               | _          |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           | _          |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           | _          |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |
|                                   | 4               |               |            |           |            |                  |
| 1                                 |                 |               |            |           |            |                  |

The Access Management Software is essentially three databases that interact to provide you with a complete system of access management. The three databases represent the three areas of the software. They are as follows:

- **The Unit database** This contains all of the lock units in your organization. With each lock unit as a record in this database, these units can be structured into Unit Groups, Locations, and Regions to mimic the structure of your actual organization. This structure also allows you to easily navigate the multitude of locks that may be in service.
- The Transponder Template database This includes all of your pre-made Transponder Templates. These templates can be linked or copied to a Person or Person Group for the quick and easy application of access parameters to employees.

**The Person database** – This includes all of the lock users in your organization. A Person record can have a Transponder Template linked to it, or it can have a custom Transponder Template that defines its access. The Person records can be grouped into Person Groups similar to the Unit Groups for lock units. A Person Group can consist of all drivers for a certain region, or all employees at a certain location. A Person Group can then have a Transponder Template linked or copied to it, so that all lock users in the group receive the same access on their transponder cards.

Each of these three areas has its own explorer module that allows you to view, restructure, add, copy, delete, and edit the database.

There are three views available in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

- Unit Explorer
- Transponder Template Explorer
- Person Explorer

Each view is discussed in more detail below. First, let us discuss the layout of the Gitcon Access Management Software.

- Menu Bar Contains general functions for the Access Management Software.
- **Toolbar** Contains specific functions for the Access Management Software.
- Tree Area Contains the database structure for the selected Explorer view.
- **Header** Shows the Explorer view and the part of the structure that is selected in the Tree Area.
- Detail Area Displays the record details for the selected area shown in the Header. The record types depend on the Explorer view selected – Unit, Transponder Template, or Person.

Now, let us discuss each of these areas in more detail.

#### Menu Bar

The topmost Menu Bar displays the available menu options.

<u>Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help</u>

These menus provide access to all of the functionality in the Gitcon Access Management Software. The menu bar selections and their associated functions are listed.

- File
  - Export Exports the data in the Detail Area to a CSV file that can be imported into other applications.
  - **Print Preview** Provides a preview before printing.
  - **Print** Prints the data shown.
  - Exit Closes the Access Management Software.
- Edit
  - Refresh Refreshes the data in the active Explorer view to reflect the most recent changes.
  - **New** Creates new entities in the system. The options available here depend on which Explorer view is active, as well as what is selected in the Tree Area.
  - **Rename** Allows you to rename the selected entity.

- **Create Pocket PC Upload File** Creates the upload file that is used to transfer the new information to the units through the Pocket PC.
- **Program Physical Transponder** Programs a Transponder card with the data selected in the system.
- Save Saves the database with any changes that have been made.
- Undo Changes Discards changes since last save.

*Note:* There are also *Save* and *Undo Changes* buttons located in the Toolbar. These buttons remain inactive until a change is made in the Detail Area.

- **Delete** Deletes the selected entity.
  - Tools
- Settings Provides a screen to define the system settings, including the names used for data categories (Region, Location, Unit, Person, etc.). You can also manage the time and date settings from this screen.
- Administration Leads to a sub-menu where you can add or delete system users, commission Pocket PCs, manage Government Override Codes (GOCs), or rename a server.
- Reports
- View Audits Allows you to view the recent audits that you have performed in the system.
- **Create Report** Allows you to define the parameters and the data to create a report from the system.
- Windows
  - Unit Explorer Displays the Unit Explorer view.
  - **Transponder Template Explorer** Displays the Transponder Template Explorer view.
  - **Person Explorer** Displays the Person Explorer view.
  - **Delete Lists** Displays deleted transponders. Contents of the Delete List are uploaded to the locks during synchronization.
  - **Manage Physical Transponder** Allows you to manage a Transponder card through the Desktop Reader/Enroller.
- Help
  - Gitcon Help (Users Guide) Allows you to view the Table of Contents of the online help system.
  - o About Allows you to view software version and registration information.

## Toolbar

The Toolbar resides just below the Menu Bar and contains shortcut buttons that perform various functions in the Access Management Software.



You will note that some of the buttons on the toolbar are inactive at one time or another. Only the following six buttons in the Toolbar are always active.

|          | Activates the <b>Unit Explorer</b> view.   |
|----------|--|
|          | Activates the Transponder Template Explorer view.  |
|          | Activates the <b>Person Explorer</b> view.   |
|          | View Audits that have been performed in the system.  |
| <b>*</b> | Create Reports from data and parameters that you define.   |
|          | <b>Delete</b> the selected entity. An entity can be selected in each the Tree and Detail areas. This will delete the actively selected entity highlighted in blue. |

The remaining buttons in the Toolbar are only active depending upon which Explorer view of the system is active or what action has just been completed. These toolbar buttons will be explained in their respective sections of this manual.

## Header

The Header section simply informs the user which Explorer is active and which area is being viewed in the Detail Area. The Header area generally appears only when you are in one of the Explorer views.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa          | are           |               |           |                 |             |
|--|---------------|---------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|
| <u>File Edit Tools Reports Windows H</u> | elp           |               |           |                 |             |
| 🕸 🕼 🙀 🚮                                  | 🌒 🎲 🔳 🛛       |               |           |                 |             |
| Al Servers                               | Location      | I: SERVER A\S | Southeast | Atlanta\Atlanta | Status R    |
| Boston                                   | Freighter 100 | ATL100        | G-152     | 10              | Out of Date |
| E-G Atlanta                              | Freighter 101 | ATL101        | G-2       | 10              | Out of Date |
| E III Atlanta Reet                       |               |               |           |                 |             |
| 🗈 🔝 Inde Reet                            | -             |               |           |                 |             |
| Charlotte                                |               |               |           |                 |             |

In the above image, you can see that the **Unit Explorer** view is active in the **Atlanta Fleet** Unit Group, in the **Atlanta** Location of the **Southeast** Region, on **Server A**.

# Tree Area

The Tree Area of the Explorer view displays a graphical tree structure representation of the data or data structure being worked on at the time.

| [ | Gitcon Access Management Softw  | are |               |                |           |                 |             | _OX |
|---|---|-----|---------------|----------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|-----|
| 1 | <u>Ele E</u> dit <u>T</u> ools <u>R</u> eports <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> | elp |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | 🕸 🖗 🖗 🔰   |     | ) 🗊 🕼 (       |                | 8         |                 |             | 0 🕯 |
|   | B I Al Servers<br>B- SERVER A   | Cic | 📭 Locatio     | n: SERVER A\\$ | Southeast | Atlanta\Atlanta | Fleet       |     |
|   |   | ÷.  | Unit 🗢        | License Plate  | Type =    | Access Level    | Status 😑    |     |
|   | Southeast   | Ŧ   | Freighter 100 | ATL100         | G-152     | 10              | Out of Date |     |
|   | Alanta  | 8   | Freighter 101 | ATL101         | G-2       | 10              | Out of Date |     |
|   | E-II Atlanta Beet   |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | 🖃 💷 Indie Reet  |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | E-G Charlotte   |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | E- 🔝 New Unit Group   |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | 🖻 🖓 Mobile  |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | 😥 - 🔝 Commercial Fleet  |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |
|   | - 🙀 Talahassee  |     |               |                |           |                 |             |     |

In the default Explorer view, the tree is collapsed, but you can reveal the internal structure of the tree by clicking the "plus" signs to expand the tree, as shown above. Also, you can collapse each level by clicking the "minus" sign.

Each Explorer contains a different type of database in the tree structure. These will be explained later.

#### Detail Area

The **Detail Area** displays the detailed records for the area that is selected in the Tree Area. Each line in the Detail Area is one record in the system. The type of data that is visible in the Detail Area depends on which Explorer is active – Unit, Transponder Template, or Person.

The Header displays what is being shown just above the Detail Area. The Unit records located on *Server A* are displayed below.

| 100001         1         G-152         Southeast         Mobile         Commercial Fl         4         C           100002         2         G-2         Southeast         Mobile         Commercial Fl         10         C           Boston Jim's Re         RFR2000         G-2         Notheast         Boston         0         C           Fred Jacobs' Tra         FXY3456         G-2         0         C   | nt 🗢 👘            | License Plate | Туре  | Region 🖯  | Location 0 | Unit Group 🔅  | Access Level | Status 🕀    |
|---|-------------------|---------------|-------|-----------|------------|---------------|--------------|-------------|
| 100002         2         G-2         Southeast         Mobile         Commercial Fill         10         C           Boston Jim's Re         RFR2000         G-2         Northeast         Boston         0         C           Fred Jacobs' Tra         FXY3456         G-2         0         0         C           Freighter 100         ATL100         G-152         Southeast         Atlanta         Atlanta Fleet         10         C           Freighter 101         ATL101         G-2         Southeast         Atlanta         Atlanta Fleet         10         C           Joe's Indie Truck         FYZ987         G-2         Southeast         Atlanta         File         5         C           Indie Truck         FYZ987         G-2         Southeast         Atlanta         File         10         C           Indie Truck         FYZ987         G-2         Southeast         Atlanta         File         Intervention   | 100001            | 1             | G-152 | Southeast | Mobile     | Commercial Fl | 4            | Out of Date |
| Boston Jim's Re         RFR2000         G-2         Northeast         Boston         0  | 100002            | 2             | G-2   | Southeast | Mobile     | Commercial Fl | 10           | Out of Date |
| Fried Jacobs' Tra         FXY3456         G-2         0   | Boston Jim's Re   | RFR2000       | G-2   | Northeast | Boston     |               | 0            | Out of Date |
| Freighter 100     ATL100     G-152     Southeast     Atlanta     Atlanta     Freighter 10       ATL101     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Atlanta     Atlanta Fleet     10     C       Joe's Indie Truck     FYZ987     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Southeast     Atlanta       India Truck     FYZ987     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Southeast     Atlanta       India Truck     FYZ987     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Southeast     India Fleet     Southeast       India Truck     FYZ987     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Southeast     India Fleet     Southeast   | Fred Jacobs' Tra  | FXY3456       | G-2   |           |            |               | 0            | Out of Date |
| Freighter 101     ATL101     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     Atlanta     Field Heat       Joe's Indie Truck     FYZ387     G-2     Southeast     Atlanta     5     C       Indie Truck     FYZ387     G-2     Indie Truck     FYZ387     G-2     G-2       Indie Truck     FYZ387     G-2     FYZ387     G-2     G-2     G-2       Indie Truck     FYZ387     G-2     FYZ387     G-2     G-2     G-2       Indie Truck     FYZ387 <td< td=""><td>Freighter 100</td><td>ATL100</td><td>G-152</td><td>Southeast</td><td>Atlanta</td><td>Atlanta Fleet</td><td>10</td><td>Out of Date</td></td<>   | Freighter 100     | ATL100        | G-152 | Southeast | Atlanta    | Atlanta Fleet | 10           | Out of Date |
| Joe's Indie Truck         FYZ387         G-2         Southeast         Atlanta         5         C           Image: Southeast         Atlanta         Image: Southeast         Atlanta         Image: Southeast   | Freighter 101     | ATL101        | G-2   | Southeast | Atlanta    | Atlanta Fleet | 10           | Out of Date |
| Image: sector of the sector               | Joe's Indie Truck | FYZ987        | G-2   | Southeast | Atlanta    |               | 5            | Out of Date |
| Image: sector of the sector               |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
| Image: state stat               |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
| Image: sector of the sector |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |
|   |                   |               |       |           |            |               |              |             |

The Detail Area provides a quick overview of the Units, Persons, or Transponder Templates for a particular part of the database. Since there can be many records in this view, you can sort the data by clicking any column header. The column header can be different, depending upon which Explorer you are using, and which level you have selected in the Tree Area.

# Setting Up the Software

Setting up the Gitcon Access Management Software consists of completing the following tasks.

- Customizing Software Options
- Managing Software Users
- Managing Government Override Codes
- Renaming a Server

# **Customizing Software Options**

The Gitcon Access Management Software allows you to customize the different levels and data that are named in your database. For the purpose of this documentation, we will refer to the default terms, Unit, Unit Group, Location, Region, Transponder, Person, and Person Group.

Additional customization options include how the time settings are retrieved for the database. Complete the following steps to set the Software Customization Options.

1. Select **Tools | Settings** from the Menu Bar. The system will display the **Software Customization Options** screen.

| 🔳 Gito | on Access Manageme                            | nt Software                           |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|--------|---|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------------|--------|---|----------|---|----------|---|---|
| Ele E  | dit <u>T</u> ools <u>R</u> eports <u>W</u> ir | ndows <u>H</u> elp                    |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
| 4      | Þ 🕼 🦓 🔰                                       | <b>H</b>                              |  |                          | î      |   | <b>*</b> | 2 | <u>a</u> | Ø | Î |
| ş      | Software Custon                               | nization Opti                         | ons  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
| i K to | Region  | Region                                |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
| SE .   | Location                                      | Location                              |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
| ž      | Unit Group                                    | Unit Group                            |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Unit  | Unit                                  |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Person Group                                  | Person Group                          |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Person  | Person                                |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Transponder                                   | Transponder                           |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Time Zone                                     | Retreive clos                         | k settings from the o                      | operating s              | system |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   | (GMT-05:00) Eas                       | tem Time (US & Cana                        | ada)                     |        | - |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Daylight Saving Time                          | Automatically                         | adjust for Daylight S                      | Saving Tir               | ne     |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   | "Spring forward"<br>"Fall back" on th | on the 1st Sunday e<br>e last Sunday every | at 2:00 AM<br>at 2:00 AM |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        | Time Format                                   | Twenty-four-                          | iour Format                                |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   |                                       |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   |                                       |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   |                                       |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   |                                       |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |
|        |   |                                       |  |                          |        |   |          |   |          |   |   |

- 2. Customize the terminology you would like to use for your database in the **Region**, **Location**, **Unit Group**, **Unit**, **Person Group**, **Person**, and **Transponder** fields.
- 3. If you would like to manually configure clock settings, clear the **Time Zone** check box and select the **Time Zone** from the drop-down list. Otherwise, select the **Time Zone** check box to enable the database to retrieve clock settings from the server's operating system.

- 4. If you have manually configured the clock setting and would like the system to automatically adjust for Daylight Saving Time, select the **Daylight Saving Time** check box.
- 5. Select the **Time Format** check box to enable 24-hour clock format (i.e., 11:30 p.m. = 23:30).
- 6. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

7. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

# **Managing Software Users**

There is no logon window when you start the Gitcon Access Management Software; however, the software has built-in security through Windows Authentication. This means that the user name and password used to log in to Windows is also used to control access to the software and security levels within the Gitcon Access Management Software. See Software Install Guide for installation options.

# User Types

The PC user who installs the Gitcon Access Management Software system is added to the database as the first software user with and is given the User Type *Gitcon Manager*. This user then has the ability to create other *Gitcon Manager* users as well as others with the Access Profile of *Gitcon User*.

## Creating a New Software User

Complete the following steps to add new users to the Gitcon Access Management Software application.

1. Select **Tools | Administration | Manage Program Users** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Software User Management** screen.

| 🔳 Gito | on Access         | Managen | nent Softw | rare         |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|--------|-------------------|---------|------------|--------------|---|----------------|---|-------|------------|------------|------|----|
| Ele Ec | iit <u>T</u> ools | Reports | Windows H  | <u>t</u> elp |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
| 4      | <b>a</b>          | êp 👌    |            |              |   |                | ŝ |       | <b>*</b> • | <b>7</b> 0 | Ø    | Î  |
|        | Domain            | SERVE   | RA         |              |   |                |   | <br>_ |            | <br>       | <br> |    |
|        | Username          | 1       |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            | Ad   | аТ |
| show   | Program Us        | er List |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        | Name 🔅            |         |            |              | 1 | Type 0         |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        | SERVER            | AVADMIN |            |              | ( | Gitcon Manager |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      | _  |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      |    |
|        |                   |         |            |              |   |                |   |       |            |            |      | _  |

- 2. To add a new user, complete the **Domain** and **Username** fields for the new user.
- 3. Click the **Add** button. The system adds the new user to the Software User Management grid.

**Note:** If you are trying to add a user that cannot be found in a trusted domain, the system displays the following alert.

| Add User | ×  |
|----------|--|
| 2        | The program user was not found in any trusted domain.<br>Are you sure you want to grant access to this user? |
|          | <u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o   |

You must click **Yes** if you want to add the user anyway. The system will then provide you with an Activation Code that you must record for the user to enter upon logging in.

4. If, for any reason, you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

5. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

# Changing the Type of Software User

Complete the following steps to change the User Type for any Gitcon Access Management Software user.

1. Select **Tools | Administration | Manage Program Users** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Software User Management** screen.

| Gitcon Access Management Software   |                |          |         |        |
|-------------------------------------|----------------|----------|---------|--------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help |                |          |         |        |
| IP 🖗 🌳 射 射 🌑                        | M 🔳 📃          | <u>a</u> | 8 🚰 🖻 🛱 | li 🛛 🗍 |
| Domain SERVER A                     |                |          |         |        |
| Username                            |                |          |         |        |
| Program User List                   |                |          |         | Add    |
| Name 🗅                              | Type 8         |          |         |        |
| SERVER AVADMIN                      | Gitcon Manager |          |         |        |
| SERVER AGUEST                       | Gitcon User    |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |
|                                     |                |          |         |        |

2. Double-click the User's **Type** that you want to change to select it. The field will turn into a drop-down list.



3. Select the new **Type** from the drop-down list.

The updated User Type will be saved automatically.

# Deleting a User

**Note:** The user who installed the application (the original Gitcon Manager user) cannot be deleted for any reason.

Complete the following steps to delete any Gitcon Access Management Software user.

- 1. Select **Tools | Administration | Manage Program Users** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Software User Management** screen.
- 2. Select the User you want to delete, as shown below.

| 🔳 G     | tcon Access | Management Softw         | are  |                |         |   |   |            |            | -DX  |
|---------|-------------|--------------------------|------|----------------|---------|---|---|------------|------------|------|
| Ele     | Edit Tools  | <u>Reports Windows H</u> | jelp |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         | P 🗗 🕯       | 🌳 🛃 🛃                    | 6    |                | <b></b> | 8 | 8 | <b>7</b> 0 | <b>e</b> • | 0 1  |
|         | Domain      | SERVER A                 |      |                |         |   |   |            |            | <br> |
| Eigk -  | Username    |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
| to Show | Program Us  | er List                  |      |                |         |   |   |            |            | Add  |
|         | Name 🕀      |                          |      | Туре 🖯         |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         | SERVER      | RAVADMIN                 |      | Gitcon Manager |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         | SERVER      | (AVGUEST                 |      | Gitcon User    |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         | _           |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |
|         |             |                          |      |                |         |   |   |            |            |      |

3. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select Edit | Delete from the Menu Bar.

4. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

5. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

# **Managing Government Override Codes**

In order to allow access to government officials that need to audit or inspect the contents of trailers or containers, the Gitcon Access Management Software allows for the configuration of five Government Override Codes (GOCs). These codes are universal to the lock units in the database. The GOCs will work to access all units in the system except for those where the **Disable Government Access Codes** check box was selected during configuration of Unit Detail.

Complete the following steps to administrate the GOCs that government officials will use for access to the lock units in the database.

 To view the GOCs that have been defined for the database, select Tools | Administration | Government Override Codes from the Menu Bar. The system displays the Government Override Code (GOC) Management screen.

| 🔳 Git  | tcon Access Mar | nagement Softwa | are                  |   |         |    |
|--------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------------|---|---------|----|
| File i | Edit Tools Repo | orts Windows H  | elp                  |   |         |    |
| 4      | Þ 🗗 🏟           | <b>9</b>        | 🌑 🎧 🔳 🔳              | ি | B 🚰 🚰 🔂 | 20 |
| _      | Governmer       | nt Override C   | ode (GOC) Management |   |         |    |
| ie e   | GOC List        | New Value       |                      |   |         |    |
| 12 O   | 9000            | 9000            | Change               |   |         |    |
| No.    | 9001            | 9001            | Change               |   |         |    |
|        | 9002            | 9002            | Change               |   |         |    |
|        | 9003            | 9003            | Change               |   |         |    |
|        | 9004            | 9004            | Change               |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |
|        |                 |                 |                      |   |         |    |

2. The system displays existing codes in each column. To edit any of the codes, type a new code in the **New Value** column and click the corresponding **Change** button. The system will display the changes made.

*Note:* The system displays the *Change* button only if you have edited its corresponding *New Value* field.

| 🔳 Git | con Access Manag   | ement Software               |                 |         |  |       |
|-------|--------------------|------------------------------|-----------------|---------|--|-------|
| Ele ș | Edit Tools Reports | <u>W</u> indows <u>H</u> elp |                 |         |  |       |
|       | ð 😰 🗳 (            |                              |                 | <b></b> |  | 💾 🙋 📋 |
| 9     | Government         | Override Code (              | GOC) Management |         |  |       |
| ŝ     | GOC List           | New Value                    |                 |         |  |       |
| st o  | 9000               | 9190                         | Change          |         |  |       |
| ŝ     | 9001               | 9999                         | Change          |         |  |       |
|       | 9002               | 9002                         | Change          |         |  |       |
|       | 9003               | 9876                         | Change          |         |  |       |
|       | 9004               | 9004                         | Change          |         |  |       |
|       |                    |                              |                 |         |  |       |

The system saves the new codes when you click the **Change** button. The edited GOCs become active the next time that you update the lock units with the Pocket PC.

# **Renaming a Server**

Just as you can rename any level of the Unit, Person, or Transponder Template databases, you can rename any of the servers that make up your database. The name change will only occur in the Access Management Software's view—the server will maintain its name on the network.

Renaming a server is different than renaming a Region, Location, or Person Group. You cannot simply click the server's name in the Tree Area to edit its name. Complete the following steps to rename any of the servers in the database.

1. In any of the explorer views, select the Server whose name you want to change.



2. Next, select **Tools | Administration | Rename Server** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Rename Server** dialog box.



3. Type the new name for the selected server and click **Ok**.

The system then changes the name of the selected server.

# Interfacing with the Pocket PC

The Pocket PC is an invaluable part of the Gitcon Access Control System. Without it, you would not be able to transfer the lock information that is configured in the Access Management Software's database. The following sections will teach you how to set up the Pocket PC for performing lock maintenance.

- Commissioning a Pocket PC
- Creating the Pocket PC Upload File
- ActiveSyncing the Pocket PC

# **Commissioning a Pocket PC**

In order to update your locks with the information in the Access Management Software database, you need to first commission a Pocket PC to perform maintenance at the locks. The commissioning file will contain information pertinent to your database and will register a unique code, so that only that Pocket PC will be able to update the locks in your system.

Complete the following steps to commission a Pocket PC.

1. Select **Tools | Administration | Commission a Pocket PC**. The system prompts you for a password to protect the commissioning file.

| Commission Pocket PC                                | × |
|---|---|
| Enter a password to protect the commissioning file. |   |
| 1   | _ |
|   |   |
| Ok Cancel   |   |

2. Type a password for the commissioning file and click **OK**. The system displays the following confirmation.

| Pocket P | ×   |
|----------|---|
| (į)      | The commissioning file was created and will be transferred the next time you synchronize your Pocket PC handheld. |
|          | (OK)  |

3. Click OK.

The next time you ActiveSync your Pocket PC, the upload file will be sent to the Pocket PC. In this way, the updated information is transferred to the lock upon connection through the infrared transmitter.

# **Creating the Pocket PC Upload File**

Once you have commissioned a Pocket PC, you can use that Pocket PC to program locks and update their statuses as the database is updated. In order to update your physical lock units with the information from the Access Management Software's database, you need to create an upload file to send to your Pocket PC.

Complete the following steps to create the Pocket PC Upload file.

1. Select Edit | Create Pocket PC Upload File from the Menu Bar. The system creates the upload file containing all of the updated information from the database.



2. Click OK.

The next time you ActiveSync your Pocket PC, the commissioning file is uploaded. You will then need to access the application on the Pocket PC and enter the password to begin performing lock maintenance.

# ActiveSyncing the Pocket PC

Anytime that you have made updates to the database, or want to commission a Pocket PC, you will need to place your Pocket PC on its cradle and run the Microsoft ActiveSync application. You should have versions of the ActiveSync application installed on your Pocket PC as well as the PC that contains the Gitcon Access Management Software.

ActiveSync will serve to "synchronize" corresponding data files on the Pocket PC and the PC. This means that any audits that have been taken on the Pocket PC will be uploaded to the PC, and any PC Upload files that have been created on the PC will be downloaded to the Pocket PC. The syncing process may take a while if it has been a long time since the last ActiveSync, or if there are numerous audit files and PC upload files to exchange.

Complete the following steps to ActiveSync your Pocket PC with your PC.

1. Place the Pocket PC in its cradle. The system displays the **Microsoft ActiveSync** window for the ActiveSync application.



- 2. The ActiveSync application proceeds to synchronize the Pocket PC and the PC. If it does not, or if the system alerts you that there are **Unresolved Items**, simply click the **Sync** button. The system will proceed to synchronize the files on the PC with the files on the Pocket PC.
- 3. When you are finished, you can close or minimize the **Microsoft ActiveSync** window.

Now that the PC and the Pocket PC have been synchronized to contain the same data, you can run up-to-date reports from the audit data using the Access Management Software on the PC or upload lock configuration files to the lock units using the Pocket PC. For more information on these procedures, refer to the following sections.

- Auditing and Reporting on page 3–46.
- **Connecting to the Lock Unit** on page 5–3.

# **3** Using the Gitcon Access Management Software

The Gitcon Access Management Software is a powerful database management application. It enables you to manage the three major components involved in the G2 and G152 lock systems – Units (the physical locks), Transponders (access cards), and Persons (the lock users).

Use the software to create databases of lock Units, Person profiles, and Transponder Templates. You can assign Transponder Templates to Persons and manage the physical transponders as well, all with an easy to use graphical interface. The information that you enter using the Gitcon Access Management Software will be uploaded to the lock units via the Pocket PC. For more information on the function of the Pocket PC, refer to **The Pocket PC**.

You can manage each of these three databases through the three different views, or explorers. There are also detailed auditing and reporting features included in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

We will address each of the following database management features included with the Gitcon Access Management Software separately.

- Unit Explorer View The default view, used to manage the various G2 and G152 locks (units) on the various servers.
- Transponder Template Explorer View Used to define Transponder Templates. These templates will be used to define accesses for Transponders that will be linked to Persons and Person Groups alike.
- **Person Explorer View** Used to define and manage access for Persons and Person Groups.
- **Auditing and Reporting** The PC Desktop Reader can take detailed audits of transponder actions, and lock actions can be audited using the Pocket PC. These audits

are then stored on the database server and can be called upon to produce any number of reports.

**Backing Up and Restoring the Database** – Back up and restore capabilities for your access control database are available through a free plug-in to the Microsoft SQL Server application.

# **Unit Explorer View**

This view displays the physical lock units form the base of Kaba's Gitcon Access Control System. Thus, the **Unit Explorer** screen is the default screen you see upon accessing the software.

| Gitcon Access Management Software     |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|---------------------------------------|-------------------|---------------|----------|------------|------------|-----------------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help   |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
| Al Servers                            | ) 💷 🎧 💽           | n: SERVER A   | <b>a</b> |            |            |                 |
| l lick                                |                   | Licanaa Plata | Time     | Basion     | Location = | Het Group       |
| <u><u> </u></u>                       | 100001            | 1             | G 152    | Se the set | Location - | Commonial Post  |
| i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | 100002            | 2             | 6.2      | Southeast  | Mobile     | Commercial Reat |
|                                       | Freighter 100     | ATL100        | G-152    | Southeast  | Atlanta    | Atlanta Fleet   |
|                                       | Freighter 101     | ATL101        | G-2      | Southeast  | Atlanta    | Atlanta Fleet   |
|                                       | Joe's Indie Truck | FYZ987        | G-2      | Southeast  | Atlanta    |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               | _        |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       |                   |               |          |            |            |                 |
|                                       | 4                 |               |          |            |            |                 |
| 1                                     |                   |               |          |            |            | <u> </u>        |

You can always return to the Unit Explorer view at any time by clicking the Unit Explorer button.



Or, you can select Windows | Unit Explorer from the Menu Bar.

Since we have established the Unit as the base of the Access Control System, we can now discuss higher levels of organization in your database. Units can be grouped together to comprise a level called a Unit Group. A Unit Group might represent a set of trailers/locks owned by a single carrier.

Taking it a step further, a Unit Group could be thought of as part of a particular Location within the organization. For instance, a rail yard facility might be considered a Location that is responsible for a multitude of grouped and individual lock units.

That same rail yard could be a part of a network of rail yards or other shipping facilities that comprise a larger subsection, or Region, of the corporation.

You can easily build the structure for the organization of lock units by building levels in the Tree Area of the Unit Explorer. You can add these levels using the Unit Explorer Toolbar.

The Unit Explorer view of the Gitcon Access Management Software contains the following features and capabilities.

- **Unit Explorer Toolbar** These buttons provide functions specific to the Unit Explorer view.
- Building the Database Structure with Levels Before you begin to enter the actual lock unit detail into your database, you should create some structure in your database to better represent the structure in your organization. The Unit Explorer enables you to group Units into Unit Groups, Locations, and Regions.
  - **Managing Lock Units** This section assists you in creating, modifying, and deleting details for the lock units in service in your organization.

# **Unit Explorer Toolbar**



In addition to the standard six buttons on the Toolbar of the Gitcon Access Management Software, there are additional buttons that become active whenever the Unit Explorer view is active.

The following buttons comprise the Unit Explorer Toolbar.

| Create a <b>New Region</b> . This button is only active when a Server is selected in the tree view of the Unit Explorer.                          |
|---|
| Create a <b>New Location</b> . This button is only active when a Server or Region is selected in the tree view of the Unit Explorer.              |
| Create a <b>New Unit Group</b> . This button is only active when a Server, Region, or Location is selected in the tree view of the Unit Explorer. |
| Create a <b>New Unit</b> . This button is active whenever the Unit Explorer is the active view.   |

# **Building the Database Structure with Levels**

When you first start the application, the Tree Area in the Unit Explorer is a bare structure, as shown below.

| Gitcon Access Management Software   |           |                 |        |            |            | _D×        |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|-----------------|--------|------------|------------|------------|
| Ele Edit Iools Reports Windows Help | 📀 🎧 🔳 🔳   |                 |        | <b>~ •</b> | <u>e</u>   | 101        |
| E I Al Servers                      | Location: | SERVER A        |        |            |            |            |
| to Hide                             | Unit 🕀    | License Plate 🖶 | Туре 🖶 | Region 🔅   | Location 8 | Unit Group |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            |            |
|                                     |           |                 |        |            |            | ·          |
|                                     | •         |                 |        |            |            | F          |

While you can start by adding a Unit directly to the Server, we will begin by building the structure from the top down with levels.

# Creating a New Region

Besides the Server, the Region is the highest-level grouping that Units can have in the database. Regions can contain Locations, Unit Groups, or individual Units. Complete the following steps to create a new Region.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. To add a Region to the Tree Area, you must have a Server selected in the Tree Area of the Unit Explorer, as shown below.



3. Click the New Region button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Region** from the Menu Bar. The system displays a new Region in the Tree Area, directly below the selected Server, as shown below.



4. Type a name for the new Region and press Enter to save it.

## Creating a New Location

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. To add a Location to the Tree Area, you must have a Server or Region selected in the Tree Area of the Unit Explorer, as shown below.



3. Click the New Location button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Location** from the Menu Bar. The system displays a new Location appears in the Tree Area, directly below the selected entity, as shown below.

| Gitcon Access Management Softw  | are           |
|---|---------------|
| Ele Edit Iools Reports Windows H  | elp           |
| 🕸 🖗 🔰 射   |               |
| <ul> <li>In Servers</li> <li>In SERVER A</li> <li>In Southeast</li> <li>In Southeast</li> <li>In Southeast</li> </ul> | Click to Hide |

4. Type a name for the new Location and press **Enter** to save it.

## Creating a New Unit Group

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. To add a Unit Group to the Tree Area, you must select a Server, Region, or Location in the Tree Area of the Unit Explorer, as shown below.



3. Click the New Unit Group button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Unit Group** from the Menu Bar. The system displays a new Unit Group in the Tree Area, directly below the selected entity, as shown below.



4. Type a name for the new Unit Group and press Enter to save it.

## Deleting a Level from the Database

In order to delete a level from the database, the level cannot contain any Units at any sublevel. As long as the level contains no Units, you can delete a Unit Group, Location, or Region from the database with the following steps.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. Select the database level you want to delete in the Tree Area by clicking it.



3. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select Edit | Delete from the Menu Bar.

# **Managing Lock Units**

Now that you have created some structure in your database of lock units, it is time to create the units themselves. The unit records can reside at any level of the database—in a Unit Group, a Location, a Region, or right on the Server. Managing the lock units using the Gitcon Access Management Software consists of the following:

- Creating a Lock Unit
- Editing Unit Detail
- Moving a Unit
- Deleting a Unit from the Database

Any changes that you make to the lock units are written into the Pocket PC Upload file and sent to the Pocket PC when you ActiveSync. They reside on the Pocket PC until you update the information at the lock.

## Creating a Lock Unit

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. To add a new Unit to the database, you must select the level where you want the Unit to reside. This can be a Server, Region, Location, or Unit Group. Click the level in the Tree Area of the Unit Explorer to select it, as shown below.



3. Click the New Unit button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Unit** from the Menu Bar. The system creates a new unit in the selected level.

The system then displays the **Edit Unit Detail** screen. Refer to the next section for information on adding the Unit's detail.

## Editing Unit Detail

Complete the following steps to edit the details for any of the Units in your database.

*Note:* If you have just created a new Unit, begin at step 4.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



2. Find the level in the Tree Area that contains the Unit you want to edit and click it to select it. The system will display all of the Units in that level of the Tree and all of its sublevels in the Detail Area.

| Citere Access Management Cofference   |          |               |           |                 |             | E I E I VI |
|---|----------|---------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|------------|
| File Edit Tools Reports Windows Help  |          |               |           |                 |             | 피비스        |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
| 💵 😰 🛍 🐴 🕴   | ) 🖬 💷 🛽  |               |           | P 2 6           | b 💾         |            |
|   |          |               | _         |                 |             | 0.0        |
| B- SERVER A   | Location | SERVER AS     | outheast  | Atlanta\Atl. Co | ntainerEle  | et         |
| 🖻 🕜 Southeast 🔗   |          | . OLIVEINIO   | 000100000 |                 |             |            |
| Atlanta   | Unit 🖯   | License Plate | Туре 🖯    | Access Level    | Status 😑    |            |
| E COLORADO  | New Unit |               | G-2       | 0               | Out of Date |            |
| The second se |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
| -   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |
|   |          |               |           |                 |             |            |

3. Double-click the Unit that you want to edit to open its details. The system displays the **Edit Unit Detail** screen, as shown below.

| \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 1 J  | 091              |                              |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|---------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------|---|--------------------|-----------|-----------------------|------|--|
| IN B SERVER A       | Line Location    | SERVER ADDRESS               | *10,00    | and the second se |                    |           |                       |      |  |
| B Southeast         | Lind Nache       | NEW LOOK                     |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
| · In Concession and | Lind Taxa        | 0.5                          |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | Com rape         | 674                          |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | Security Level   | Part Income                  |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  | Charles Loverte              | ment Acc  | No. COM   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | and the second   | Comment and a                | Nerter La | De CONCONCIDENT.  |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | Annual and       |                              | MAC.      | Au  | dt Shite           | Depatcher | Time BMC Corput And   |      |  |
|                     | PICOBELLEVEL     |                              | 12.       | un Un   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | LackPeriod       | A STATE OF STATE             |           | ••• Us  | ned                |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  | No. or or reason is a summer | 18 .      |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10.1      |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 18 .      |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 18 .      |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | H :       |   | 1000               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 16 1      |   | and its            |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | 10-   | and .              |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           |   | and it is a second |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           |   | ned                |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | E .       | Lin   | ned                |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 0.        |   | and it             |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | and Lin   | there.             |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10 .      | un Un   | ined               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10.       | ••• Un  | and 1              |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10.       | Un  | ned                |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | Uh  | ded.               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10.       |   | and .              |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              | 10.       | eee Un  | beau               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | (m  | stati              |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           |   | dwd.               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | ••• Un  | beau               |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | une Uh  | and .              |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           | un Un   | beg                |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  | Concernence in               | -         |   | ered a rese        |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  | T-HER FAIL                   | -         |   |                    |           | Gameratia Nana SINC C | 2046 |  |
|                     | Seathinte        |                              |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | Fernance Version |                              |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     | Coveresioned 9   | *                            |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
|                     |                  |                              |           |   |                    |           |                       |      |  |
- 4. In the Unit Name field, type a name for the Unit.
- 5. In the **License Plate** field, type the license plate number of the Unit's corresponding trailer/container.
- 6. Select the lock type from the Unit Type drop-down list.
- 7. Select the level of security from the Security Level drop-down list.
- 8. To disable GOCs, select the Disable Government Access Code check box.
- 9. To disable SMCs, select the Disable Super Master Code (SMC) Access check box.
- 10. If SMCs are enabled, enter the number of **SMC Codes** that should be allowed for the Unit.
- 11. Enter the number of the **Access Level** for the Unit. Persons and Transponders with an Access Level below this number cannot operate this Unit.
- 12. Enter the duration in number of seconds for the **Latch Period**. This determines how long the lock remains unlocked when a correct code or Transponder is interfaced.
- 13. Select the U.S. Date Format check box to enable MM/DD/YYYY date format.
- 14. Type any notes for the Unit in the **Notes** field.
- 15. To change the SMCs for the Unit, click the Generate New SMC Codes button.
- 16. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

17. When you are finished, click the Save button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

#### Moving a Unit

The Gitcon Access Management Software enables you to easily move a Unit from one level of the database to another by the drag and drop method. Complete the following steps to move a Unit to different level.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Unit Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the level of the database that contains the Unit you want to move in the Tree Area by clicking it.



3. Next, move the Unit you want by clicking and holding it in the Detail Area, dragging it over to the Tree Area, and releasing the mouse button over the desired level of the database.

| Gitcon Access Management Software                                 |             |              |                                       |                  |                          |     |
|---|-------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|------------------|--------------------------|-----|
| Al Servers  | Contraction |              | i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | ianta\All. Conta | ainerFleet               | 0 1 |
| G-Goorgia<br>Coorgia<br>Coorgia<br>Atanta<br>∭ Atl. ContainerReet | Unt H       | Ucense Plate | Type #                                | Access Level H   | Status ::<br>Out of Date |     |
|   |             |              |                                       |                  |                          |     |
| 1 Þ   |             |              |                                       |                  |                          |     |

The system displays the Unit in the newly selected level of the unit database.

Note: When moving a lock to a new location, make sure to update the lock file and physically reprogram the lock.

#### Deleting a Unit from the Database

In order to delete a level from the database, you must ensure that it does not contain any Units at any sublevel. As long as the level contains no Units, you can delete a Unit Group, Location, or Region from the database in the following steps.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Unit Explorer** button.



- Or, select Windows | Unit Explorer from the Menu Bar.
- 2. Select the database level that contains the Unit you want to delete in the Tree Area by clicking it.



3. Select the Unit you want to delete in the Detail Area by clicking it.

| Gitcon Access Management Software       |           |               |           |                  |             | <u> </u> |
|---|-----------|---------------|-----------|------------------|-------------|----------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help     |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
| 📴 🖗 🏘 射 🔰 🌘                             | ) 📦 💷     |               |           | <b>~ ~ ~</b>     |             | 0 🕯      |
| Al Servers                              | Location: | SERVER A\S    | outheast\ | Atlanta\Atl. Cor | ntainerFle  | et       |
| Adanta     Adanta     Adanta     Adanta | Unit 🕀    | License Plate | Туре 🖯    | Access Level     | Status 🔅    |          |
|   | New Unit  |               | G-2       | 0                | Out of Date |          |
| ē                                       |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   |           |               |           |                  |             |          |
|   | 1         |               |           |                  |             |          |

4. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select Edit | Delete from the Menu Bar.

# **Transponder Template Explorer View**

Now that you understand the layout and functionality of the Unit Explorer of the Gitcon Access Management Software, understanding the Transponder Template Explorer view will be a snap, as they are similar in structure. Transponder Templates provide an outline of access parameters that can be linked or copied to a particular Person or Person Group.

To access the Transponder Template Explorer view, click the **Transponder Template Explorer** button.



| Gitcon Access Management Softw   | vare             |       |                  |     |
|----------------------------------|------------------|-------|------------------|-----|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows B | Help             |       |                  |     |
| IP 🕼 🏟 🔰 射                       | 🌒 🎧 🖪 🔳          | 🛜 🔒 🔒 |                  | 201 |
| SERVER A                         | Location: SERVER | A     | Universal Access |     |
| Hide                             |                  |       |                  |     |
|                                  |                  |       |                  |     |
|                                  |                  |       |                  |     |
|                                  |                  |       |                  |     |
|                                  |                  |       |                  |     |
|                                  |                  |       |                  |     |

Or, select Windows | Transponder Template Explorer from the Menu Bar.

The main differences from the Unit Explorer view are:

- Instead of Units, the Transponder Template records fill the Detail Area.
- There is only one level or organization for the Templates—in the above case, *SERVER A*.

The Transponder Template Explorer view of the Gitcon Access Management Software contains the following features and capabilities.

- **New Transponder Template Button** This button allows you to create a new Transponder Template.
- **Managing Transponder Templates** This section assists you in creating, modifying, and deleting details for the Transponder Templates in your database.

### **New Transponder Template Button**

Whenever you have selected a server in the Tree Area of the Transponder Template Explorer, you will notice a new button that is active on the Toolbar.

| $\overline{\mathbf{a}}$ |
|-------------------------|

Create a **New Transponder Template**. This button is only active when a Server is selected in the tree view of the Transponder Template Explorer.

## **Managing Transponder Templates**

Transponder Templates are helpful for organizations that are often issuing transponders with the same types of access. For instance, drivers on a similar shift or workers in a particular location can be allowed the same access. Once you have created a Transponder Template, you can link it to a Person or Person Group profile, so that the proper access is allowed the user(s).

Managing transponder templates using the PC version of the Gitcon Access Management Software consists of the following:

- Creating a New Transponder Template
- Editing Transponder Template Detail
- Deleting a Transponder Template

#### Creating a New Transponder Template

Complete the following steps to create a new transponder template.

1. If you have not done so already, click the Transponder Template Explorer button.



Or, select Windows | Transponder Template Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. To add a new Transponder Template to the database, you must select the server where you want the Template to reside, as shown below.



3. Click the New Transponder Template button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Transponder Template** from the Menu Bar. The system creates a new transponder template on the selected server.

The system then displays the **Edit Transponder Template Detail** screen. Refer to the next section for information on adding the Transponder Template's detail.

### Editing Transponder Template Detail

Complete the following steps to edit the details for any of the Transponder Templates in your database.

Note: If you have just created a new Transponder Template, begin at step 4.

1. If you have not done so already, click the Transponder Template Explorer button.



Or, select Windows | Transponder Template Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Find the Server in the Tree Area that contains the Transponder Template you want to edit and click it to select it. The system displays all of the Transponder Templates on that server in the Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softw   | rare                     |                          |              |                  | _DX |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------|------------------|-----|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows E | <u>i</u> elp             |                          |              |                  |     |
| 🕸 🚳 🖓 🔰                          | 🌒 🎲 💷 🛽                  | I 🛜 🔒                    | 8 🚰 🖗        | h 🖻 💾 🤇          | ð 🕯 |
| Al Servers                       | Location: SEF            | RVER A                   |              |                  |     |
|                                  | Name 🕀                   | Operations 😑             | Access Level | Universal Access |     |
| Hide                             | New Transponder Template | Unseal, Unlock, and Seal | 10           | Yes              |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                  |                          |                          |              |                  |     |

3. Double-click the Transponder Template that you want to edit to open its details. The system displays the **Edit Unit Detail** screen, as shown below.

| Gitcon Access Management Softw   | ware  |           |
|----------------------------------|---|-----------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows B | Help  |           |
| 🕸 🖗 🗿 🛃                          | 0 🖓 🗉 🖪 🗿 🗳 🗳 🚳 🛅 🤇   | 2 1       |
| Al Servers<br>SERVER A           | Name New Transponder Template Serial Number Owner Notes               |           |
|                                  | Operations Uniseal, Uniock and Seal Number of Operations Unlimited    | •         |
|                                  | Log Both Transponder Activity and Last Unit Visited Activity          | •         |
|                                  | Access Viniversal Access (24/7 Access to All Units)                   |           |
|                                  | Days Of The Week Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Satu | rday<br>7 |
|                                  | Time Window Start 12:00 AM 🚟 Duration 24 🚎                            |           |
|                                  | Access Level 10   |           |
|                                  | Physical Access AI Servers\SERVER A                                   | Select    |
|                                  | Date Range Restrict to Date Range                                     |           |
|                                  | From Saturday , January 01, 2000                                      | ×         |
|                                  | To Thursday , December 31, 2099                                       | Ŧ         |

- 4. In the **Name** field, type a name for the Transponder Template. The name should describe the access, for example, *Day Shift* or *Weekdays Only*.
- 5. In the Notes field, type any notes for the Transponder Template.
- 6. Select the **Operations** that the transponders with this template can perform from the drop-down list.
- 7. Enter the **Number of Operations** that should be allowed for a transponder programmed with this template (from 1 to 249 or *Unlimited*).
- 8. Select which activities to Log, if any, from the drop-down list.

**Note:** If you want to audit and report the activities of transponders programmed with this template, you must log the activities that you want to audit.

- Clear the Universal Access check box unless you are allowing universal access (24/7 access for all units) for the transponder template. If you are not allowing Universal Access, proceed to step 17.
- 10. Ensure that only the **Days of the Week** are selected where access is allowed for transponders programmed with this template.
- 11. Create a **Time Window** of access by selecting a **Start Time** from the drop-down list and entering a **Duration** (in hours).
- 12. Enter an Access Level code for the transponder template (0–10).

 Next, click the Select button to select the areas where transponders programmed with the template will have Physical Access. The system displays a tree that resembles the Unit Explorer Tree Area.

|                      | ⊡ <mark>len Al Servers</mark><br>⊛- <mark>■ SERVER AS</mark> |
|----------------------|--|
| Operations           | Unseal, Unlock and Seal                                      |
| Number of Operations | 1 🚔  |
| Log                  | Both Transponder Activity and Last Unit Visited Ac           |
| Access               | Universal Access (24/7 Access to All Units)                  |
| Days Of The Week Si  | unday Monday Tuesday Wednesday<br>IV IV IV IV                |
| Time Window          | Start 12:00 AM - Duration 24 -                               |
| Access Level         | 0 🚞  |
| Physical Access      | All Servers\SERVER A Select                                  |

14. Expand the tree until you see the level of access you want to allow for the transponder template. Select the level of physical access that the transponder template will carry by double-clicking the Unit, Unit Group, Location, Region, or Server.



The system displays the selected level or unit in the Physical Access field.

| Physical Access | All Servers\SERVER A\Southeast\Atlanta\Atl. ContainerReet\New Unit | Select |
|-----------------|--|--------|
|-----------------|--|--------|

- 15. If you want to restrict the transponder template to a **Date Range**, select the check box. If there is no date restriction, proceed to step 17.
- 16. Select the **From** and **To** dates to create the Date Range where access will be allowed for this transponder template.
- 17. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

- 18. If you are editing a Person's custom Transponder Template and want to program a transponder card, place a transponder card on the PC Desktop Reader. Otherwise, proceed to the next step.
- 19. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

**Note:** If you are editing the detail for a Person's custom Transponder Template and there is a transponder card on the PC Desktop Reader when you click the **Save** button, the system will prompt you to select whether you would like to program the transponder. Click **Yes** to program the transponder card or **No** to exit.

#### Deleting a Transponder Template

In order to delete a Transponder Template, you must be sure that it is not directly linked to any Persons in the database. If you attempt to delete a linked Transponder Template, you will receive an error message and the template will not be deleted.

As long as the template contains no links, you can delete a Transponder Template from the database with the following steps.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Transponder Template Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Transponder Template Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the server that contains the Unit you want to delete in the Tree Area by clicking it.



3. Select the Transponder Template you want to delete in the Detail Area by clicking it.

| Gitcon Access Management Soft         | ware                     |                          |              |                  |     |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------|------------------|-----|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows        | Help                     |                          |              |                  |     |
| 🖳 🖗 🖓 🛃                               |                          | 8                        |              |                  | 0 1 |
| E SERVER A                            | Location: SER            | VER A                    |              |                  |     |
| i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | Name 🗢                   | Operations 8             | Access Level | Universal Access |     |
|                                       | ATL Reet/No Weekends     | Unseal, Unlock, and Seal | 5            | No               |     |
| 8                                     | New Transponder Template | Unseal, Unlock, and Seal | 10           | Yes              |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
| -                                     |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |
|                                       |                          |                          |              |                  |     |

4. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select Edit | Delete from the Menu Bar.

# **Person Explorer View**

Now that you understand the layout and functionality of the Unit Explorer and the Transponder Template Explorer, understanding the Person Explorer view will be a snap, as they are similar, with a tree structure full of Person records. Unlike the Transponder Template Explorer, however, the Person Explorer allows you to group Person records together into Person Groups. This is similar to the levels that were created with the Unit Explorer.

To access the Person Explorer view, click the Person Explorer button.

**P** 

| Gitcon Access Management | Soft<br>ws    | ware<br>Help             |        |           |          |            |               |            | -OX              |
|--------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|--------|-----------|----------|------------|---------------|------------|------------------|
| Al Servers<br>SERVER A   | Click to Hide | Location:      Frst Name | SERVEI | RA<br>I I | est Name | Crew =     | Social Securi | y Number   | Employee         |
|                          |               | Name 8                   | Туре 8 | Crew      | Person   | Operations | Acce          | ss Level 🛛 | ▶<br>Universal / |
|                          |               |                          |        |           |          |            |               |            |                  |

Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

Note that there are two distinct Detail Areas in the Person Explorer view. The topmost area displays the Person records for the level selected in the Tree Area. The bottom Detail Area displays the Transponder Templates that are linked to the Persons in the topmost Detail Area. The linking of Persons with Transponders provides the powerful reporting capability in the Gitcon Access Management Software.

The Person Explorer view of the Gitcon Access Management Software contains the following features and capabilities.

- Person Explorer Toolbar These buttons provide functions specific to the Person Explorer view.
- Managing Persons and Person Groups This section will assist you in creating, modifying, and deleting details for the lock users or Persons in your organization. These users may also be organized into groups called Person Groups.

### Person Explorer Toolbar



The five buttons on the Toolbar we have yet to discuss become active with the Person Explorer view. These buttons provide functions that deal with Persons and Person Groups and their links with Transponders and Transponder Templates.

The following buttons comprise the Unit Explorer Toolbar.

|          | Create a <b>New Person Group</b> . This button is only active when a Server is selected in the Tree Area of the Person Explorer.           |
|----------|--|
|          | Create a <b>New Person</b> . This button is only active when a Server or Person Group is selected in the Tree Area of the Person Explorer. |
| <b>2</b> | Create a <b>New Transponder Template Link</b> . This button is active whenever the Person Explorer is active.                              |
|          | Create a <b>New Transponder Template Copy</b> . This button is active whenever the Person Explorer is active.                              |
|          | Create a <b>New Custom Transponder</b> . This button is active whenever the Person Explorer is active.                                     |

## **Managing Persons and Person Groups**

The Person database allows you to create profiles for all of your lock users. The users' accesses are assigned through the transponder templates, which are discussed later. You can group Persons together into Person Groups. This is helpful if a large contingent of users is to be assigned the same access and thus the same transponder template.

Managing Persons and Person Groups using the Gitcon Access Management Software consists of the following:

- Creating a New Person Group
- Deleting a Person Group
- Creating a New Person
- Editing Person Detail
- Moving a Person
- Deleting a Person

Since the Person Group provides an extra level of organization within the Person Explorer, we will deal with that first.

#### Creating a New Person Group

Besides the Server level, the Person Group provides another level of organization for managing Persons in the database. Person Groups can contain any number of Persons and can be linked to a Transponder Template, which will be discussed later.

1. If you have not done so already, click the Person Explorer button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. To add a Person Group to the Tree Area, you must select a Server in the Tree Area of the Person Explorer, as shown below.



3. Click the New Person Group button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Person Group** from the Menu Bar. The system displays a new Person Group in the Tree Area, directly below the selected Server, as shown below.



4. Type a name for the new Person Group and press **Enter** to save it.

#### Deleting a Person Group

Just as you can add a Person Group, you can delete a Person Group. Be careful, however, as all Persons in the Person Group are deleted when you delete a Person Group. If you want to keep the Person's records but delete the Person Group, you should move the Person to another Person Group before deleting.

Complete the following steps to delete a Person Group.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. To delete a Person Group, you must select the Person Group you want to delete, as shown below.



3. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select Edit | Delete from the Menu Bar.

The system removes the Person Group and all of the Person Records within.

#### Creating a New Person

You can create a Person at either the Server or the Person Group level of the Person Explorer Tree Area.

Complete the following steps to create a new Person.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. To add a new Person to the database, you must select the server or Person Group where you want the Person to reside, as shown below.



3. Click the **New Person** button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Person** from the Menu Bar. The system creates a new Person on the selected level of the database.

The system then displays the **Edit Person Detail** screen. Refer to the next section for information on adding the Person's detail.

#### Editing Person Detail

Complete the following steps to edit the details for any of the Persons in your database.

Note: If you have just created a new Person, begin at step 4.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.

| <u> </u> |
|----------|
|----------|

Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Find the Server or Person Group in the Tree Area that contains the Person you want to edit and click to select it. The system will display all of the Persons on that server in the Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softw<br>Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows E | rare<br>jelp |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               | .ox   |
|--|--------------|---------------|--------|----------|-----------|----------|-----------------|-------|---------------|-------|
| IŞ 🕼 🏘 🛐 🛐   | 0 🖓 🖪        |               | ŝ      | 1        | 8         | <b>2</b> | i 🚰 🛜           |       |               | Û     |
| □ 🔓 All Servers<br>⊡- 🛢 SERVER A<br>⊡- 😭 Drivers - Southeast       | 🍄 Location   | SERVE         | R A\D  | rivers - | Sout      | heast    |                 |       |               |       |
| ž.   | First Name   | Middle Initia | a e [  | Last Nam | e e       | Social   | Security Number | r e l | Employee N    | umber |
| 3  | New Person   |               |        |          |           | 000-00   | 0000            |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  | L            |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  | L            |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  | 1            | 1             |        |          |           | 1        |                 |       |               | •     |
|  | Name 😚       | Type 🔅        | Person | 1 8 (    | Operation | 88       | Access Level    | 8     | Universal Acc | ess 😚 |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        | -        |           |          |                 | _     |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  | L            |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
|  |              |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               |       |
| 1  | •            |               |        |          |           |          |                 |       |               | •     |

3. Double-click the Person that you want to edit to open the details. The system displays the **Edit Person Detail** screen, as shown below.

| Gitcon Access Management S    | oftwa | ire                    |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|-------------------------------|-------|------------------------|------------|---------|-----------|-----|------------|---|------------|---------|-----|---|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Window | s He  | elp                    |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
| 📴 🚳 🏟 🔰 🦻                     | J     | 🌒 🎲 🔝                  |            | Ŷ       | 8         |     | <b>~</b> ° | 2 | <b>?</b> • |         | Ø   | 1 |
| Al Servers                    |       | First Name             | New Person | 1       |           |     |            | _ | Middle Ir  | itial 🗌 |     |   |
| E- B Drivers - Southeast      | ₽.    | Last Name              |            |         |           |     |            |   | Gender     | M       | ale | • |
|                               | ž     | Date of Birth          | Sunday     | . Janua | ry 01, 19 | 961 |            | • |            |         |     |   |
|                               | Ŧ.    | Social Security Number | 000-00-000 | 0       |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               | ۳.    | Driver Licence Number  |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       | Employee ID Number     |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       | Address                |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     | _ |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       | Notes                  |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     | _ |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       |                        | Show Ph    | noto    |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |
|                               |       |                        |            |         |           |     |            |   |            |         |     |   |

- 4. In the **First Name** field, type a first name for the Person.
- 5. In the **Middle Initial** field, type a middle initial for the Person.
- 6. In the Last Name field, type a last name for the Person.
- 7. Select a Gender for the Person from the drop-down list.
- 8. Select the Person's Date of Birth from the drop-down calendar.
- 9. In the Driver License Number field, enter the Person's driver license number.
- 10. In the Employee ID field, enter the Person's employee ID.
- 11. In the Address field, enter the Person's home or mailing address.
- 12. In the Notes field, type any notes for the Person.
- 13. If you want to attach a photo to this Person, select the **Show Photo** check box. If you do not want to attach a photo, proceed to step 15.
- 14. Click the Attach button to browse your server's file system for the Person's photo.
- 15. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

16. When you are finished, click the Save button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

#### Moving a Person

The Gitcon Access Management Software enables you to easily move a Person from one Person Group to another by the drag and drop method. Complete the following steps to move a Person to another Person Group.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the Server or Person Group that contains the Person you want to move by clicking it in the Tree Area.



3. Next, move the Person you want by clicking and holding it in the Detail Area, dragging it over to the Tree Area, and releasing the mouse button over the desired Person Group.

| Gitcon Access Management Software |   |                          | _D×                     |
|-----------------------------------|---|--------------------------|-------------------------|
| Egit Loois Reports Lindows Re     | Cocation: SERVI      First Name      Middle in      Teddy | ER A\Drivers - Northeast |                         |
|                                   | Name 10 Type 10   | Server B Person Group    | Person H Operations H A |

The system displays the Person in the newly selected Person Group. The Person then acquires any transponder templates that you have previously linked to that new Person Group. (Also see Section 3, "Managing Transponders")

#### Deleting a Person

You can delete a Person from the database with the following steps.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the server or Person Group that contains the Person you want to delete in the Tree Area by clicking it.



3. Select the Person you want to delete by clicking its row in the Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa<br>Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows H | are<br>ep    |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|---|--------------|--------------------|-----------|-------------------|---------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|---------------|
| 🕸 🖗 🖗 射 射   | <b>()</b>    |                    | <b>?</b>  | 8                 | 8 🚰                 | <b>6</b>               |                       | 1             |
| □    □  | location:    | SERVE              | R A\Dr    | ivers - S         | Southeast           |                        |                       |               |
| K to His  | First Name 🗄 | Middle Initia<br>C | 18 I<br>( | Last Name<br>Cruz | Social S<br>987-65- | ecurity Number<br>4321 | Employee<br>987-65-43 | Number<br>321 |
| e   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   | ×1           |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       | ►             |
|   | Name 🕀       | Type 🗧             | Server    | 8 Per             | son Group 🛞         | Person 8               | Operations 8          | Access        |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
|   |              |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       |               |
| 1   | •            |                    |           |                   |                     |                        |                       | •             |

4. Click the **Delete** button.



Or, select **Edit | Delete** from the Menu Bar. The system will delete the Person from the database.

### **Assigning Transponder Templates to Persons**

Since you have created Persons and Transponder Templates, the only thing left to do is link them together, so that each person will receive the proper access on his or her transponder card when its is programmed and issued.

When a Transponder is programmed, it carries the access information, as well as the Person information. This helps to provide the detailed audits and reports from the lock or system.

Persons and Person Groups can be linked to several different Transponder Templates. There are three different ways that a Transponder Template can be assigned to a Person or Person Group.

- **Transponder Template Linked to a Person or Person Group** This allows you to keep a Template for a large number of Persons or Person Groups. So, when you want to change part of the access for all Persons or Person Groups linked to it, you can simply edit the Transponder Template.
- **Transponder Template Copied to a Person or Person Group** This allows you to copy a Transponder Template to a Person, yet still modify it for the Person without changing the actual Transponder Template.
- **Creating a Custom Transponder for a Person or Person Group** This means that you will create an individual Transponder profile for the Person or Person Group. This is generally a good idea for unique Transponder types.

No matter what assignment you make to a Transponder Template, the system displays it in the lower Detail Area of the Person Explorer. The data that is shown can be used to determine what is linked, no matter which level is selected in the Tree Area of the Person Explorer. This is explained in more detail later.

We will now discuss the procedures for each Person/Transponder linking process.

#### Linking a Transponder Template

Any existing Transponder Template can be linked to a Person or Person Group. Linking Transponder Templates enables you to apply a common access profile across a broad spectrum of Person profiles.

**Note:** You cannot modify Transponder Templates that link to Persons on the individual level. You can only modify them universally at the template level. If you want to modify the template at the individual level, you should copy the Transponder Template to the Person.

Complete the following steps to link a Transponder Template to a Server, Person Group, or Person.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the Person Group or Person to which you want to link an existing Transponder Template by clicking it.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa<br>Ele Edit Tools Reports Workwas Hi | are                                |                    |          |              |   |          | 5                         | <u> </u> |
|--|------------------------------------|--------------------|----------|--------------|---|----------|---------------------------|----------|
| Al Servers   | 🦉 🎲 💷                              | SERVE              | R A\Driv | iers - Souti | 🍄 🚰<br>heast                                    | <b>a</b> | 8                         | Î        |
| Drivers - Southreast   | First Name Eddie<br>Eddie<br>Tommy | Middle Initia<br>C | La<br>Ca | st Name 🔶    | Social Security N<br>987455-4321<br>000-00-0000 | lumber 🖶 | Employee N<br>987-65-4321 | umber    |
|  | Name 😑                             | Туре 😣             | Server   | 8 Person Gr  | oup 🗄 Perso                                     | n 🗄 O    | perations 🗧               | Access   |
|  | 4                                  |                    |          |              |   |          |                           |          |

Note: Only the actively selected entity (in blue) is linked to the Transponder Template.

3. Click the **New Template Transponder Link** button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Transponder Template Link** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Template Transponder** tree.



4. Double-click the Transponder Template you want to link to the selected Person or Person Group. The system then displays the unmodifiable Transponder Template, as it is linked to the selected Person or Person Group.

| Gitcon Access Management Sof   | tware   |            |
|--------------------------------|---|------------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows | Heb   |            |
| IP 🕼 🍄 🛃 🖠                     |   | 101        |
| All Servers                    | Name ATL Fleet/No Weekends Serial Number Owner Notes  |            |
|                                | Operations Unlock and Seal Number of Operations Unlimited   | ×          |
|                                | Access Diviversal Access (24/7 Access to All Units) Days Of The Week Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday                  | y Saturday |
|                                | Time Window Start 12:00 AM  |            |
|                                | Physical Access         All Servers\SERVER A\Southeast\Atlanta\Atl. ContainerReet           Date Range         Restrict to Date Range | Select     |
|                                | From Saturday , January 01,2000<br>To Thursday , December 31,2099   | ¥<br>¥     |

5. If you return to the Person Explorer view, the Transponder link that you just made is displayed in the lower Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa<br>Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows He | ire<br>Ip           |                |           |             |            |                |                | <u> </u> |
|--|---------------------|----------------|-----------|-------------|------------|----------------|----------------|----------|
| 🕸 🖗 🙀 🛐  | <b>)</b>            |                |           |             | <b>a</b> ( | 🔁 🔁            | 20             | Î        |
| Al Servers   | location:           | SERVER         | A\Drivers | - South     | least      |                |                |          |
| E - Drivers - Northeast  | First Name          | Middle Initial | East Name | ama 🚊       | Social Sec | urity Number 🔅 | Employee No    | umber    |
|  | Eddie               | С              | Gruz      |             | 987-65-43  | 21             | 987-65-4321    |          |
| 8  | Tommy               |                | Cruz      |             | 000-00-00  | 00             |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
| -  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  | 1                   |                |           |             |            |                |                | <u> </u> |
|  | Name 😑              | Type 😚         | Server 🕀  | Person G    | roup 🗧     | Person 8       | Operations     |          |
|  | ATL Fleet/No Weeken | . Link         | SERVER A  | Drivers - S | Southeast  | Cruz, Eddie C. | Unseal, Unlock | , and St |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  |                     |                |           |             |            |                |                |          |
|  | 41                  |                |           |             |            |                |                | •        |

### Copying a Transponder Template

Just as you can link a Transponder Template to a Person or Person Group, you can copy any existing Transponder Template to a Person or Person Group. This gives the Person all the accesses of the Transponder Template, while still allowing the settings to be modified at the individual level. Also, since you copy the Transponder Template to the Person rather than link it, when you modify the Template, the Person or Person group does not receive the modification.

Copying a Transponder Template allows you to create a customized version of an existing Template, without having to enter all of the settings.

Complete the following steps to copy a Transponder Template to a Person Group or Person.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the Person Group or Person to which you want to copy an existing Transponder Template by clicking it.

| Gitcon Access Management Software |                                |                  |                             |  | _DX                         |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|-----------------------------|--|-----------------------------|
| E EN LOS ERVIS ERVERA             | ) 🗐 🎲 🚱 🚱                      | I SERVER A       | Drivers - Sout              | 🔓 🚰 🚰 !  | 1 🗇 🎁                       |
| Bir Man Univers - Northeast       | First Name 🗄<br>Eddie<br>Tommy | Middle Initial 😑 | Last Name 👘<br>Cruz<br>Cruz | Social Security Number 8<br>987-65-4321<br>000-00-0000 | Employee Num<br>987-55-4321 |
|                                   | K Name B                       | Type 🗵 Ser       | ver 8 Person G              | iroup R Person R C                                     | perations A                 |
|                                   |                                |                  |                             |  |                             |

**Note:** Only the actively selected entity (in blue) has the Transponder Template copied to it.

3. Click the **New Transponder Template Copy** button.



Or, select **Edit | New | Transponder Template Copy** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Template Transponder** tree.



4. Double-click the Transponder Template you want to copy to the selected Person or Person Group. The system then displays the copied Transponder Template, as it is applied to the selected Person or Person Group.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa   | are                                     |   |          |
|---|---|---|----------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows He   | elp                                     |   |          |
| 🕸 🖗 🖗 🛐   |   | 🔳 🗟 🗳 🛎 🎇 🕵 💾 (   | 0 🕯      |
| <ul> <li>Al Servers</li> <li>B- SERVER A</li> <li>B- B Drivers - Northeast</li> <li>B- B Drivers - Southeast</li> </ul> | Name<br>Serial Number<br>Owner<br>Notes | ATL Reet/No Weekends                                      |          |
|   | Operations                              | Unseal, Unlock and Seal                                   | •        |
|   | Number of Operation                     | Inimited  |          |
|   | Log                                     | Both Transponder Activity and Last Unit Visited Activity  | •        |
|   | Access                                  | Universal Access (24/7 Access to All Units)               |          |
|   | Days Of The Week                        | Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday           | Saturday |
|   | Time Window                             | Start 12:00 AM 📩 Duration 24 🚔                            |          |
|   | Access Level                            | 0 =   |          |
|   | Physical Access                         | All Servers/SERVER A/Southeast/Atlanta/Atl. ContainerReet | Select   |
|   | Date Range                              | Restrict to Date Range                                    |          |
|   |   | From Saturday , January 01, 2000                          | Ŧ        |
| ]   |   | To Thursday , December 31, 2099                           | ¥        |

- 5. You can now modify the copied Transponder Template if you choose. The changes you make here are only applied to the selected Person or Person Group to which you copied the Transponder Template. Refer to *Editing Transponder Template Detail* for more information.
- 6. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

7. When you are finished, click the Save button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

8. If you return to the Person Explorer view, the system displays the copied Transponder that you just made in the lower Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa<br>Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows He | are<br>ep           |                |                |                          |        |               |
|--|---------------------|----------------|----------------|--------------------------|--------|---------------|
| Al Servers   | Contraction:        | SERVER /       | A\Drivers - S  | 🚰 🚘 🚰<br>outheast        |        | 0 1           |
| Drivers - Southeast  | First Name          | Middle Initial | Last Name      | Social Security Number   | er 0   | Employee Num  |
|  | Edde                | С              | Cruz           | 987-65-4321              |        | 987-65-4321   |
|  | Tommy               | -              | Cruz           | 000-00-0000              |        |               |
|  | ×                   |                |                |                          |        |               |
|  | Name 🕆              | Type           | Persur         | Operations               | Access | s Level 🔅 🛛 U |
|  | ATL Fleet/No Weeken | de Custom      | Cruz, Tommy    | Inseal, Unlock, and Seal | 0      | N             |
|  | ATL Fleet/No Weeken |                | Cruz, Eddie C. | Anseal, Unlock, and Seal | 5      |               |
| 1  | •                   |                |                |                          |        | 2             |

Note that since the Person Group is selected, each of the Transponder Templates are shown, and can be distinguished by their respective Type and Person fields. Even though the Transponder Template for *Tommy Cruz* was copied to the Person, it is of a *Custom* type, since it was customized to that Person.

We will now discuss creating a new custom Transponder Template for a Person or Person Group.

#### Creating a Custom Transponder Template

Just as you can link or copy a Transponder Template to a Person or Person Group, you can create a custom Transponder Template for any Person or Person Group. Similar to copying a Transponder Template to the Person, this allows you to customize a Transponder Template for a Person or Person Group. However, since there is no copied Template to provide a starting point, you must configure all of the new custom Transponder Template's settings from scratch.

Complete the following steps to copy a Transponder Template to a Person Group or Person.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select **Windows | Person Explorer** from the Menu Bar.

2. Select the Person Group or Person for which you want to create a custom Transponder Template by clicking it.

| Ele Edt Iools Reports Windows B  | are<br>ep     |  | 1 8                      | 6      |                            | <b>a</b> 7                       |                           | <b>1 1 1</b>                        | <br>] Ø (                          | )<br>N                 |
|--|---------------|--|--------------------------|--------|----------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Al Servers     SERVER A     SERVER A     A     A     A     A     D     A     D     A     D     D     D     D     Southeast | Click to Hide | Location:<br>rst Name ::<br>Teddy<br>Jonny | SERVEF<br>Middle Initial | R A\D  | Last N<br>Gonzal<br>Sacrim | s - North<br>ame 1<br>lez<br>oni | Social<br>432-9<br>456-71 | Security Number<br>8-7654<br>8-9123 | Employee<br>432-98-76<br>456-78-91 | <u>Num</u><br>54<br>23 |
|  | •             | ame 8                                      | Туре                     | Person | 1 (2)                      | Operation                        | 5 8                       | Access Level 😕                      | Universal Ar                       | ►<br>cces              |
|  |               | 1  |                          |        |                            |                                  |                           |                                     |                                    |                        |

**Note:** Only the actively selected entity (in blue) has the Transponder Template copied to it. Since no Person is selected above, the Transponder Template is created for the Person Group.

3. Click the **New Custom Transponder** button.



Or, select **Edit | New | New Custom Transponder** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Edit Transponder Template Details** screen for the newly created template.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwa  | re                                      |  |          |
|--|---|--|----------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows He  | þ                                       |  |          |
| Al Servers<br>Al Servers<br>Al Servers<br>SERVER A<br>B-<br>Drivers - Northeast<br>B-<br>Drivers - Southeast | Name<br>Serial Number<br>Owner<br>Notes | New Custom Transponder                                   | 2 1      |
|  | Operations<br>Number of Operation       | Unseal, Unlock and Seal                                  | ¥        |
|  | Log                                     | Both Transponder Activity and Last Unit Visited Activity | •        |
|  | Access                                  | Universal Access (24/7 Access to All Units)              | _        |
|  | Days Of The Week                        | Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday          | Saturday |
|  | Time Window                             | Start 12:00 AM The Duration 24                           |          |
|  | Access Level                            | 10   |          |
|  | Physical Access                         | All Servers\SERVER A                                     | Select   |
|  | Date Range                              | Restrict to Date Range                                   |          |
|  |   | From Saturday , January 01, 2000                         | ~        |
|  |   | To Thursday , December 31, 2099                          | Ŧ        |

- 4. You can now modify the new custom Transponder Template as you choose. Refer to *Editing Transponder Template Detail* for more information.
- 5. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

6. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

7. If you return to the Person Explorer view, the system displays the new custom Transponder that you just created in the lower Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Software           Ele         Edit         Tools         Reports         Windows         Help           Image: Servers         Imag | ) 🎧 💷 🔳                | ] [<br>SERV | er avd | Privers - Nor                   | theast  | <u> </u> | 0                               |                       |
|--|------------------------|-------------|--------|---------------------------------|---|----------|---------------------------------|-----------------------|
| to Hide  | Fint Name Carl         | Middle ir   | ital 🔛 | Last Name Gonzalez<br>Sacrimoni | Social Security Nur<br>432-98-7654<br>456-78-9123 | nber 😳   | Employe<br>432-98-7<br>456-78-9 | e Num<br>7654<br>9123 |
|  | •                      |             |        |                                 |   |          |                                 | •                     |
|  | Name 😚                 |             | Туре   | Person 8                        | Operations 🗧                                      | Access L | evel 🔅                          | Univ                  |
|  | Northeast Custom Trans | sponder     | Custom |                                 | Uhseal and Unlock                                 | 4        |                                 | No                    |

Note that since you created the Transponder for the Person Group, there is no Person listed. That indicates that this particular Transponder Template applies to every Person in the Person Group until you delete the template.

## **Programming Transponder Cards**

Now that you understand all of the ways to assign a Transponder Template to a Person or Person Group, you must now program the transponder cards according to those Transponder Templates. Even though a Person can have several Transponder Templates linked or created for it, the transponder card itself only carries one template and one Person's information.

Since you issue transponder cards to your lock users, you must program them from the Person Explorer area of the Gitcon Access Management Software. The programmed transponder cards then contain the user and access information that has been written from the Person and Transponder Template databases.

In order to program transponder cards for your lock unit users, you must have the Desktop Reader installed and connected on your workstation. Refer to the *Gitcon Access Management Software Installation Guide* for more information.

Complete the following steps to program a transponder card for a Person.

1. If you have not done so already, click the **Person Explorer** button.



Or, select Windows | Person Explorer from the Menu Bar.

2. The system displays the Transponder Template assignments in the lower Detail Area of the Person Explorer view. You should first locate the Person for whom you will be

programming the transponder card and select it in the upper Detail Area.

3. Then, select the Transponder Template that you want to program in the lower Detail Area.

| Gitcon Access Management Softwo     Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows H      Al Servers     Al Servers     SERVER A      Drivers - Northeast | ere<br>elp<br>Con Con III (<br>El Cocatio   | n: SERVER A      | Drivers - :               | Southeast                                     |             | ×                           |
|---|---|------------------|---------------------------|---|-------------|-----------------------------|
| Linvers - Southeast   | Konte Service | Middle Initial C | Last Name<br>Cruz<br>Cruz | Social Securi     987-65-4321     000-00-0000 | ty Number 🔅 | Employee Num<br>987-65-4321 |
|   | Name 🖯  | Туре             | Server 8                  | Person Group                                  | Person 8    | Operations                  |
|   | ATL Reet/No Week  | senda Link       | SERVER A                  | Drivers - Southeast                           | Ouz, Edde C | Unseal, Unicol              |

- 4. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader. This can be a blank transponder or the lock user's current transponder card.
- 5. Select Edit | Program Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

**Note:** The system indicates that an error has occurred, and you will need to re-perform this step if you have not presented a transponder card to the Desktop Reader.

Then, while the system programs the transponder card, it displays a progress indicator.



When the system has completed programming the card, it displays the following indicator.

| Transpor | ıder 🔀                            |
|----------|-----------------------------------|
| (į)      | Transponder written successfully. |
|          | (CK)                              |

6. Click **OK** to complete the process.

You can now remove the transponder card and issue it to the lock user. If you want to confirm that the transponder card has been written properly, you can view the contents of the transponder card in the system. Refer to the following section for more information.

### **Managing Physical Transponders**

Once you have programmed a transponder card, you can confirm its status by selecting the Manage Physical Transponder feature. This feature is helpful in determining the owner of misplaced or found transponders. Instead of having to adjust the Transponder Template for the Person, this area also allows you to edit certain access features for the transponder card.

To access the Manage Physical Transponder screen, complete the following steps:

- 1. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader.
- 2. Select Windows | Manage Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

The **Manage Physical Transponder** screen enables you to perform the following actions to the transponder card.

- View the transponder's attributes.
- Take an audit of the transponder card.
- Edit the transponder's access parameters (for those with custom Transponder Templates only).
- Create a transponder command that will override the transponder's access level, enable/disable Government codes, or delete a transponder for a certain window of time.

We will now discuss each of these actions in detail.

#### Viewing Transponder Card Attributes

Whether you would like to change a transponder card, or simply need to identify its owner and accesses, you need to access the Manage Physical Transponder screen. Complete the following steps to view a transponder's attributes.

- 1. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader.
- 2. Select Windows | Manage Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

**Note:** The system idles and waits for a transponder if you have not presented a transponder card to the Desktop Reader. The Desktop Reader turns off if you do not eventually present a transponder card.

The system displays the Person and access information that is contained on the transponder card.

| Gitcon Access Management Software   |                               |                  |            |                         |
|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------|------------|-------------------------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help |                               |                  |            |                         |
| IP 🕼 🍄 射 🔰 (                        | ) 🖓 🖪 🔳                       | <u>ବ</u> 🔒 🔒     | <b>*</b> • | 201                     |
| Transponder Name ATL Fleet/No We    | sekends                       |                  |            |                         |
| Transponder Owner SERVER A\Drive    | rs - Southeast\Cruz, Eddie C. |                  |            |                         |
| to Sh                               | Take Audit                    | Edit Transponder |            |                         |
| Transponder Commands                |                               |                  |            |                         |
| Command Expires                     | Description 0                 |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
| Select a transponder command        |                               |                  |            | <ul> <li>Add</li> </ul> |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |
|                                     |                               |                  |            |                         |

From this screen, you can perform several different actions on the transponder card. This screen allows you to:

- Audit a transponder card.
- Edit the transponder card's attributes.
- Create a transponder command.

#### Auditing a Transponder Card

You can audit transponder cards through the Desktop Reader for all card actions, just as you can audit lock units through the Pocket PC. Complete the following steps to audit a transponder card.

**Note:** In order to audit a transponder card, the card must be programmed to log the transponder activity or log both the transponder activity and the last lock visited in the Transponder Template Detail. Refer to **Editing Transponder Template Detail** for more information.

- 1. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader.
- 2. Select Windows | Manage Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

**Note:** The system idles and waits for a transponder if you have not presented a transponder card to the Desktop Reader. The Desktop Reader turns off if you do not eventually present a transponder card.

The system displays the Person and access information that is contained on the transponder card. If the transponder has performed any actions, the system activates the **Take Audit** button.

| Gitcon Access Management Software                             |       |
|---|-------|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows Help                           |       |
|   | 201   |
| Transponder Name ATL Reet/No Weekends                         |       |
| Transponder Owner SERVER A\Drivers - Southeast\Cruz, Eddle C. |       |
| Take Audit Edit Transponder                                   |       |
| Transponder Commands  |       |
| Command 8 Expires 8 Description 8                             |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
| Select a transconder command                                  | ▼ Add |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |
|   |       |

3. Click the **Take Audit** button. The system audits the transponder card and retains the data in the database. The system also displays all of the transponder's logged activities.

| 🅦 ВІ     | ue Truck (Augus     | t 24, 2006 3:25 PM)         |                     |                         |     |
|----------|---------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|-----|
| Number 🍵 | Event 8             | Date                        | People 8            | Card 8                  | Lo  |
| 1        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:24:30 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Bl  |
| 2        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:24:30 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Bl  |
| 3        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:24:16 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 4        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:24:16 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Bl  |
| 5        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:15:47 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Bl  |
| 6        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:15:47 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Bl  |
| 7        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:36:21 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bl  |
| 8        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:36:21 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bli |
| 9        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:36:05 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bl  |
| 10       | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:36:05 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bli |
| 11       | Seal by Card        | August 24, 2006 10:35:51 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bl  |
| 12       | Lock                | August 24, 2006 10:26:18 AM |                     |                         | BI  |
| 13       | Unlock              | August 24, 2006 10:26:17 AM |                     |                         | Bl  |
| 14       | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:26:12 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | BI  |
| 15       | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:26:12 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Bl  |
| 16       | Lock                | August 24, 2006 10:26:05 AM |                     |                         | BI  |
| 17       | Unlock              | August 24, 2006 10:26:00 AM |                     |                         | BI  |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |

The report above shows an audit of Jerry Hampton's transponder card. The audit contains the transponder's activities and the activities of the last lock unit that the transponder visited. Henry Henderson operated the lock on the "Blue Truck" in the morning and Jerry Hampton operated the lock in the afternoon.

Once you have taken the transponder audit, the audit data is available in the Audit List of the Gitcon Access Management Software. For more information, refer to *Viewing Audits*.

#### Editing Transponder Card Attributes

Whether you would like to change a transponder card, or simply need to identify its owner and accesses, you need to access the Manage Physical Transponder screen. Complete the following steps to edit a transponder's attributes.

- 1. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader.
- 2. Select Windows | Manage Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

**Note:** The system idles and waits for a transponder if you have not presented a transponder card to the Desktop Reader. The Desktop Reader turns off if you do not eventually present a transponder card.

The system displays the Person and access information that is contained on the transponder card.

| Gitcon Access Management 5     | ioftware                             |                  |       |     |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|-------|-----|
| File Edit Tools Reports Window | vs Help                              |                  |       |     |
| IP 🕼 🏟 🛃                       |                                      | 8 🔒 🔒            | * * * | 201 |
| Transponder Name ATL Fie       | eet/No Weekends                      |                  |       |     |
| Transponder Owner SERVE        | ER A\Drivers - Southeast\Cruz, Tommy |                  |       |     |
|                                | Take Audit                           | Edit Transponder |       |     |
| Transponder Commands           |                                      |                  |       |     |
| Command Ex                     | pires Description                    |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
| Select a transponder comman    | d                                    |                  |       | Add |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |
|                                |                                      |                  |       |     |

3. Click the **Edit Transponder** button. The system displays the **Edit Transponder Detail** screen for the transponder.

| 📕 Gito | on Access Manage    | ement Software   |
|--------|---------------------|--|
| Ele Ed | it Tools Reports    | Windows Help   |
| Þ      | 😰 🗳 👌               |  |
| N.     | lame                | ATL Fleet/No Weekends  |
| ្ឋ ៖   | Serial Number       | 1CFEC-406000007E0  |
| ä o    | Dwner               | Cruz, Tommy  |
| Show   | lotes               |  |
| c      | Operations          | Unseal, Unlock and Seal  |
|        | lumber of Operation | S Unlimited  |
| L. L   | .og                 | Both Transponder Activity and Last Unit Visited Activity         |
| A      | locess              | Universal Access (24/7 Access to All Units)                      |
| 0      | Days Of The Week    | Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday         |
| т      | Time Window         | Start 6:00 AM is Duration 14                                     |
| Å      | Access Level        | 0  |
| F      | Physical Access     | All Servers\SERVER A\Southeast\Atlanta\Atl. ContainerReet Select |
| C      | Date Range          | Restrict to Date Range   |
|        |                     | From Saturday , January 01, 2000                                 |
|        |                     | To Thursday , December 31, 2099                                  |

**Note:** If the Transponder is linked to a template, none of the fields in the **Edit Transponder Detail** screen are modifiable. If this is the case, you will need to edit the Transponder Template Detail and then re-program the transponder.

- 4. Edit any of the access attributes as you want. For more information, refer to *Editing Transponder Template Detail* on page 3–16.
- 5. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

6. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.



Or, select **Edit | Save** from the Menu Bar to save your changes. The system displays the following dialog.



7. To re-program the transponder, click Yes. Then, while the system programs the

transponder card, it displays a progress indicator.



When the system has completed programming the card, it displays the following dialog.

| Transpor | nder 🔀                            |
|----------|-----------------------------------|
| (į)      | Transponder written successfully. |
|          | OK III                            |

8. Click **OK** to complete the process.

#### Creating a Transponder Command

Short of editing the transponder card completely, the Access Management Software allows you to change some of the access features of the transponder through the Manage Physical Transponder screen. These commands are intended to place a temporary access or disablement on a transponder card and are available from the drop-down list just below the Transponder Commands list.

The commands in this drop-down list are:

• Alter Access Level – This command allows you to place a temporary period of increased or decreased access on the transponder card. When this option is selected, the system displays two more drop-down lists from which you select the new Access Level and the expiration date for it. You can also select the database level for which the access is allowed from the tree view that is displayed.

| ļ | Atter Access Level  |  | • | Add |
|---|---|--|---|-----|
|   | Al Servers     SerVER A     Southeast     Alsrda     Alsrda     Alsrda     New Unit | Expiration Date<br>August 1, 2006 12:00 PM<br>Access Level |   | •   |

**Enable/Disable Government Access** – This command allows you to disable or enable the Government Override Codes (GOCs) for the lock. When you select this option, the system displays another drop-down list and a check box through which you choose whether to disable government access codes and then select the date that the disablement should expire. You are also able to select the database level for which the government access is enabled/disabled from the tree view that is displayed.

|                    | Evaluation Data                |  |
|--------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| E A Servers        | Lugarda di 2007 (200 DM        |  |
| E Southeast        | August 1, 2007 12:00 PM        |  |
| E-Sod Atlanta      | Disable Government Access Code |  |
| Ad. ContainerFleet |                                |  |

**Delete Transponder** – This command allows you to delete a transponder card. This removes all Person and access information that has been programmed into it. You will need to select the transponder from the list that appears.

| Delete Transponder |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|--------------------|--------|--------------|-------|--------------|------------------|--|
| Serial Number      | Date 🕀 | Program User | Perso | Expiration 0 | Date             |  |
|                    |        |              |       | August       | 3, 2007 12:00 PM |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |
|                    |        |              |       |              |                  |  |

To create any of the above commands for a transponder card, you must access the **Manage Physical Transponder** screen. Complete the following steps to create a transponder command.

- 1. Present a transponder card to the PC Desktop Reader.
- 2. Select Windows | Manage Physical Transponder from the Menu Bar.

**Note:** The system idles and waits for a transponder if you have not presented a transponder card to the Desktop Reader. The Desktop Reader turns off if you do not eventually present a transponder card.

The system displays the Transponder Name and Transponder Owner from the card.

| 🔳 GI | tcon Access Managem  | ent Software   |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|------|--|----------------|---------------|----------|-----------------|--|-------|--|
| File | Edit Tools Reports V                                       | Vindows Help   |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
| 4    | وه 🖓 🕼 کې  |                | I 🗊 🖓 🕐       | <b>?</b> |                 |  | " 0 1 |  |
|      | Transponder Name   | ATL Fleet/No W | eekends       |          |                 |  |       |  |
| lick | Transponder Owner SERVER A\Drivers - Southeast\Cruz, Tommy |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
| o Sh |  |                | Take Audit    | E        | dit Transponder |  |       |  |
| ŝ    | Transponder Command  | 5              |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      | Command  | Expires 8      | Description 0 |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      | 1  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      | Select a transponder co                                    | mmand          |               |          |                 |  | ▼ Add |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |
|      |  |                |               |          |                 |  |       |  |

- 3. From the **Select a transponder command...** drop-down list, select one of the commands. If you select **Delete Transponder**, proceed to step 7.
- 4. From the tree view of the lock unit database that is displayed, select the database level for which the command you have selected should apply.
- 5. If you have selected **Alter Access Level**, enter the new access level that should take effect in the **Access Level** field. If you selected **Enable/Disable Government Access**,

select/clear the Disable Government Access Code check box accordingly.

- 6. From the **Expiration Date** field, select the date and time that the transponder command should expire.
- 7. Click the **Add** button. The system adds the new transponder command to the **Transponder Commands** list.

Also note that the **Save** and **Undo Changes** buttons are now active. You can continue to add commands to the transponder card before you click **Save**.

8. If for any reason you want to discard the changes you have made before they are saved, click the **Undo Changes** button.



Or, select Edit | Undo Changes from the Menu Bar.

9. When you are finished, click the **Save** button.

| <b>March</b> |  |
|--------------|--|
|              |  |
|              |  |

Or, select Edit | Save from the Menu Bar to save your changes.

The PC Desktop Reader writes the newly created commands to the transponder card.

# Auditing and Reporting

The Gitcon Access Management Software enables detailed reporting features, including Lock Unit reports, Person reports, or database activity reports. The Unit and Person reports are taken from data that is collected, or audited, from the lock units using the Pocket PC. You can also audit data from the physical transponders. All of the audit data remains in the database
and can be called upon and filtered to create your reports. For more information on taking audits at the locks or transponders, refer to *Auditing a Transponder Card* and *Auditing the Lock*.

This section provides the following information to assist you in managing your audits and reports using the Gitcon Access Management Software.

- Creating and Printing Reports
- Viewing Audits

# **Creating and Printing Reports**

Tracking Persons, Units, and Transponders can only provide so much utility if you have no way to report the data that is collected. Therefore, the Gitcon Access Management Software provides several different reporting formats with a seemingly endless possibility of customizations. The system offers quick and easy features, such as Auto Summary and multiple preview options, before printing to facilitate the reporting process.

#### Report Types

There are three main types of reports that the Access Management Software enables you to create.

- **Unit** A report on the activities of a Unit or group of Units for a selected date range. This report lists the date, Person, Transponder, and Details of each of the selected activities for a particular Unit or level of the Unit database.
- **Person** A report on the activities of a Person or Person Group for a selected date range. This report lists the date, Unit, Transponder, and Details of each of the selected activities for a particular Person or Person Group.
- **Database Activity** A report on the activities of the database. This report lists the program user, name, date, and details all of the selected database activities.

#### Creating Reports

Complete the following steps to customize, create, and print a variety of different database reports.

1. Click the Create Report button.



Or, select **Reports | Create Report** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Create Reports** screen.

| ap ap                   | म म 🖉 🕲 ।  |   | 1   |
|-------------------------|--|---|-----|
| d Sannar<br>As Survey . |  |   |     |
| Type                    | Line .   |   |     |
| e Subject               | ALSeners/DCONGDON/PLT  |   | 100 |
| Data<br>Ma              | Thursday December 25 200 =<br>Thursday December 25 200 =   |   |     |
| 784                     | Transaction           Mod SMC Entry           Access Densed           Government Access Granted           Extern Of Jamsage Mode           Winong Thy Penatry           Access Lever Danged           Extern Of Jamsage Mode           Winong Thy Penatry           Access Lever Danged           March State           Seal           Date State           Date State     < | Description   |     |
|                         | Buttery Level  | Appendix and the second second and access was granted to the unit<br>Bathery level reported by unit |     |

- 2. In the **Report Title** field, type a title for the report.
- 3. In the **Report Summary** field, type a summary for the report. You can also click the **Auto Summary** button to have the system create the report summary for you.

**Note:** If you choose the option to auto-create the report summary, you should only click the **Auto Summary** button when you have finished making changes to the **Create Reports** screen. This ensures that the summary contains accurate information.

- 4. Select the **Report Type** from the drop-down list. If you choose to create a **Database Activity** report, proceed to step 7.
- 5. The **Report Subject** field determines the scope of the report. It can report on the activities for a particular level or even a single Unit/Person. Click the **Select** button to display a database tree. The tree contains Units or Persons, depending on which was selected in step 4.

| P P P                 | 31 31 @ @ 1  |  | )   |
|-----------------------|--|--|---|
| Report Type           | (Det   |  |   |
| Navel Surgers         | Al Severa DCONSDONRPL1   |  |   |
| Dent Date<br>End Date | Thursday . December 25, 2008 9   |  | Al Saturn                                 |
| Audi f Bar            | Transation Development Access Devel Development Access Devel Development Access Devel Development Access Develop Development Access Develop Development Access Development Development Access Development Developm | Description =<br>Increast sparse index code (SMC) was ensued<br>Access was denote to unit used<br>Access was denote to the government<br>Unitation unit of persage mode<br>Unitation unit of persage mode<br>A anong ty person of the anong of the anong<br>The status senior<br>The anong the status anong the anong the anong the anong<br>Access any grant was excerned<br>Access any grant winter seched built anong the status of the<br>Status grant winter seched built are main to anyows?<br>Probat PC communications with a statubility<br>Out the status (Intergod<br>Unit secies (Intergod<br>Concernent) isomits (sold (SMC) (sold the status)<br>Barters (SMC) (SMC) (sold (SMC) (sold the person<br>Status (Intergod (SMC) (sold the status)<br>Barters (SMC) (SMC) (sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the sold the status)<br>Barters (sold the sold the sold the sold the stat | in (B) At Company Free<br>in (B) New Unit |

6. Click the plus signs to expand the tree and double-click the level of the tree to which you want the report to be confined. The system displays the selected range in the **Report Subject** field.

| Papert Subject |  |        |
|----------------|--|--------|
| neport oubject | AI Servers \SERVER A\Southeast \Atlanta\Atl. ContainerFleet\New Unit | Select |

- 7. From the **On and After This Date** drop-down calendar, select a beginning date for the time range of the report.
- 8. From the **On and Before This Date** drop-down calendar, select an ending date for the time range of the report.

#### Using the Gitcon Access Management Software

9. Select the check box for each type of activity or transaction that you want the report to display in the **Audit Filter** list.

| Gitcon   | Access Management Soft                        | ware   |                                       |                                       |
|----------|---|--|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|
| Ele Edit | <u>T</u> ools <u>R</u> eports <u>W</u> indows | Help   |                                       |                                       |
| Þ        | 🕼 🦃 🏟 🕼                                       |  | 🛛 🖓 🔒 🊰                               |                                       |
| Re       | port Title                                    | Activity Report                                  |                                       |                                       |
| Re       | port Summary                                  | This will be a sample report on the database :   | activity that has been performed      |                                       |
| <u>ę</u> |   | The first of a complete point of the oblabate of | for the first first from portering of |                                       |
| 5        | Auto Summary                                  |  |                                       |                                       |
| Ť        |   |  |                                       | -                                     |
| 5        |   | 1  |                                       |                                       |
|          |   |  |                                       |                                       |
| не       | port Type                                     | Database Activity                                |                                       | <u> </u>                              |
| Re       | port Subject                                  | AI Servers\SERVER A                              |                                       | Select                                |
|          |   |  |                                       |                                       |
| On       | and Atter This Date                           | Monday , July 28, 2003 💌                         |                                       |                                       |
| On       | and Before This Date                          | Friday , July 28, 2006 💌                         |                                       |                                       |
| Au       | dit Filter                                    | Transaction                                      | Type 🕀                                | Description                           |
|          |   | GOC Change                                       | Security                              | The Government Override Codes (GC     |
|          |   | Program User Created                             | Program User                          | A new program user was created.       |
|          |   | Program User Changed                             | Program User                          | The settings for a program user were  |
|          |   | Program User Deleted                             | Program User                          | A program user was deleted.           |
|          |   | Program User Login                               | Program User                          | A program user logged on the system.  |
|          |   | Program User Logout                              | Program User                          | A program user logged off the system. |
|          |   | Server Created                                   | Server                                | A new server was created.             |
|          |   | Server Changed                                   | Server                                | The settings for a server were change |
|          |   | Region Created                                   | Region                                | A new region was created.             |
|          |   | Decise Deleted                                   | Design                                | A makes was delated                   |
|          |   | <u> </u>   |                                       |                                       |
|          |   | Preview Report                                   |                                       |                                       |
|          |   |  |                                       |                                       |
|          |   |  |                                       |                                       |

When you have selected all of the criteria for the report and clicked **Auto Summary**, you have completed the report configuration. You now have a couple of options of previewing the report before it is printed.

#### Previewing and Printing Reports

Once you have configured your report, there are a couple of options for previewing it. You can either view a soft copy preview or the print preview. If you have yet to create your report, refer to the previous section, *Creating Reports*. Your created report should look similar to the following.

| Gitcon Access Management Sof   | tware                                    |                                     |  |
|--------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|--|
| Ele Edit Tools Reports Windows | Help                                     |                                     |  |
| 🕸 🖗 🗿 🤰                        |  | 8 8 8                               |  |
| Report Title                   | Activity Report                          |                                     |  |
| Report Summary                 | This will be a sample report on the data | hase activity that has been nerform | ed a                                   |
| <u>ç</u>                       |  | edee doornig bloc nee been penom    |  |
| Auto Summary                   |  |                                     |  |
|                                |  |                                     | -                                      |
| 2                              | 1  |                                     |  |
| Report Type                    | Developed by a                           |                                     |  |
| neport type                    | Database Activity                        |                                     | <b>`</b>                               |
| Report Subject                 | AI Servers\SERVER A                      |                                     | Select                                 |
| On and After This Date         | Monday , July 28, 2003                   | •                                   |  |
| On and Before This Date        | Friday July 28, 2006                     | -<br>-                              |  |
|                                |  |                                     |  |
| Audit Filter                   | Transaction                              | Туре                                | Description 🖉 🔺                        |
|                                | GOC Change                               | Securty                             | The Government Override Codes (GC      |
|                                | Program User Created                     | Program User                        | A new program user was created.        |
|                                | Program User Changed                     | Program User                        | The settings for a program user were ( |
|                                | Program User Deleted                     | Program User                        | A program user was deleted.            |
|                                | Program User Logn                        | Program User                        | A program user logged on the system.   |
|                                | Program Oser Logout                      | Program User                        | A program user logged off the system.  |
|                                | Server Created                           | Server                              | The settless fas a secure was change   |
|                                | Berles Charges                           | Perior                              | A new region was created               |
|                                | Region Created                           | Region                              | A region was deated.                   |
|                                | •  |                                     | •                                      |
|                                | Preview Report                           |                                     |  |
|                                |  |                                     |  |
|                                |  |                                     |  |

 Once you have entered all of the parameters for your report, click the Preview Report button at the bottom of the Create Report screen. The system displays a soft copy preview of the report.

| toon Access Mene | general Schware             |                               |                   |                         |            |         | incard?      | 2 |
|------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|------------|---------|--------------|---|
| Edit Locis       | Beports Windows Help        |                               |                   |                         |            |         |              |   |
| -                |                             |                               |                   |                         | ~ ~        |         |              |   |
|                  | 4 4 60 53                   |                               |                   |                         | (四) 同      |         |              |   |
| -                |                             | and the second                |                   | and and and             | ~ 0        |         |              |   |
|                  |                             |                               |                   |                         |            |         |              |   |
| 1est             | Init (November 20, 200      | 8 12 18 PM)                   |                   |                         |            |         |              |   |
| Noter *          | Ewet 1                      | Date                          | Femore            | Transponder 1           | 04         | Details | Sum :        | - |
| 1                | Connect Pocket PC           | November 20, 2008 11 33 03 AM |                   | 100000                  | Test Link  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 2                | Lock                        | November 20, 2008 11 32/38 AM |                   |                         | Test Link  |         | Line         |   |
| 3                | Access Granted              | Nevember 20, 2008 11 32 31 AM | Advant had 5      | New Datum Transportier  | Test that  | 2141    | Turnissender |   |
| 4                | Seal                        | November 20, 2008 11 21 58 AM | Adventori Jural E | New Custom Transporder  | Test Unit  | 2141    | Tanecorder   |   |
| 5                | Lock                        | November 20, 2008 11:20:43 AM |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | the          |   |
| 1                | Access Granted              | November 20, 2006 11 20 43 AM | Advance, Jurd 5.  | New Custom Transporter  | Test Unit  | 1658    | Terraporder  |   |
| 3                | Seal                        | November 20, 2008 11 20 08 AM | 2 Bref, Jord S.   | New Custom Transportier | Test Lint  | 1655    | Tiensconder  |   |
| 8                | Lock                        | November 20, 2008 11:15:55 AM |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Chd.         |   |
| 8                | Deconnect Pocket PC         | November 20, 2008 11:11:05 AM |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Padket PC    |   |
| 10               | Convect Pocket PC           | November 20, 2008 11 10 29 AM |                   |                         | Test liber |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 11               | Deconnect Pocket PC         | November 19, 2008 5 31 59 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Pecket PC    |   |
| 12               | Cock Set                    | November 19, 2000 5 25 57 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  | Date    | Pocket PC    |   |
| 13               | Cock Set                    | Nevember 15, 2008 5-28-57 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  | Time    | Pecket PC    |   |
| 34               | Connect Plocket PC          | November 19, 2005 5 27 09 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 15               | <b>Disconnect Pocket PC</b> | November 15, 2008 3 09 22 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 16               | Connect Proket PC           | Taivenber 15, 2006 3 07-43 PM |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 17               | Disconnect Pocket PC        | November 18, 2008 5 14 06 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| 18               | Connect Focket PC           | November 18, 2008 5:12:38 PM  |                   |                         | Text Unit  |         | Focket PC    |   |
| 19               | Disconnect Pocket PC        | November 18, 2008 5 04:49 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  |         | Packet PC    |   |
| - 20             | Clack Set                   | November 15, 2000 5 04:31 PM  |                   |                         | Test Unit  | Date .  | Pecket PC    |   |

 This preview of the report provides basic information in the report and is good for a quick scan of activity. If you need to preview the hard copy of the report before printing it, select File | Print Preview from the Menu Bar. The system displays a preview of the hard copy version of the report. 3. To print the report, select **File | Print** from the Menu Bar of either of the preview screens.

# **Viewing Audits**

The Gitcon Access Management Software allows you to view the last 150 audits that have been performed by the system. These include lock unit audits taken by the Pocket PC and uploaded into the database, as well as any transponder audits taken by the PC Desktop Reader.

Complete the following steps to view an audit that has been uploaded into the database.

1. Click the View Audits button.



Or, select **Reports | View Audits** from the Menu Bar. The system displays the **Audit List** screen.

| <b>.</b>  | Decenter of       | Developed at a           | -      | 111-12-0               |  |
|---|-------------------|--------------------------|--------|------------------------|--|
| Source 8  | People 8          | Downloaded +             | Туре 🗧 | Media                  |  |
| Blue Truck  |                   | August 24, 2006 3:41 PM  | LOCKS  | Card                   |  |
| Blue Truck  |                   | August 24, 2006 3:25 PM  | LOCKS  | Card Do                |  |
| Blue Truck  |                   | August 24, 2006 10.34 AM | LOCKS  | Pocket PC<br>Basket PC |  |
| Choose Truck  |                   | August 24, 2006 9:54 AM  | Locks  | Pocket PC              |  |
| Cheese Truck  |                   | August 18, 2006 1-57 PM  | Locks  | PocketPC               |  |
| Milwaukee - Manager   | Wannaha Newman    | August 14, 2006 10:49 AM | Cord   | Cord                   |  |
| Rear Door   | wainabe, wewinan  | August 9, 2006 3:17 PM   | Locke  | Pocket PC              |  |
| Milwaukee - Manager   | Wannaba Newman    | August 9, 2006 2:49 PM   | Card   | Card                   |  |
| Milwaukee - Manager   | Wannabe Newman    | August 9, 2006 2:49 PM   | Card   | Card                   |  |
| Milwaukee - Manager   | Wannabe, Newman   | August 9, 2006 2:48 PM   | Card   | Card                   |  |
| Rear Door   | trennere, riennen | August 9, 2006 2:36 PM   | Locks  | PocketPC               |  |
| Milwaukee - Manager   | Wannabe, Newman   | August 9, 2006 2:35 PM   | Card   | Card                   |  |
| in a second s |                   |                          |        |                        |  |
|   |                   |                          |        |                        |  |
|   |                   |                          |        |                        |  |
|   |                   |                          |        |                        |  |
|   |                   |                          |        |                        |  |
|   |                   |                          |        |                        |  |

2. Double-click the row of the audit that you want to view. The system displays the detailed information contained in the audit.

| P 🖦 🖬    |                     |                             |                     |                         | D   |
|----------|---------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|-----|
| 🔰 Blu    | e Truck (Augus      | t 24, 2006 3:25 PM)         |                     |                         |     |
| Number 🕆 | Event 8             | Date 8                      | People 8            | Card 8                  | Lo  |
| 1        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:24:30 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 2        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:24:30 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 3        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:24:16 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 4        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:24:16 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 5        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 3:15:47 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 6        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 3:15:47 PM  | Hampton, Jerry      | Truck Driver            | Blu |
| 7        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:36:21 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 8        | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:36:21 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 9        | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:36:05 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 10       | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:36:05 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 11       | Seal by Card        | August 24, 2006 10:35:51 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 12       | Lock                | August 24, 2006 10:26:18 AM |                     |                         | Blu |
| 13       | Unlock              | August 24, 2006 10:26:17 AM |                     |                         | Blu |
| 14       | Card Access Granted | August 24, 2006 10:26:12 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 15       | Unseal by Card      | August 24, 2006 10:26:12 AM | Henderson, Henry D. | Milwaukke - First Shift | Blu |
| 16       | Lock                | August 24, 2006 10:26:05 AM |                     |                         | Blu |
| 17       | Unlock              | August 24, 2006 10:26:00 AM |                     |                         | Blu |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |
|          |                     |                             |                     |                         |     |

The audit contains all of the actions that were performed by the audited lock or transponder card. This audit information remains in the database for viewing or reporting. The system retains only the 150 most recent audits.

# **Backing Up and Restoring the Database**

The Gitcon Access Management Software no longer offers backup and restore capabilities in its database interface. Microsoft offers a free application for these purposes that plugs directly into MS SQL Server and MS SQL Server Express. It is recommended that you download Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio Express to perform database backup and restore functions. This application can be downloaded from the Microsoft Downloads Web site.

# **Downloading and Installing Management Studio Express**

Complete the following steps to download and install the MS SQL Server Management Studio Express (SSMSE) application.

1. Download SSMSE from the Microsoft Web site.

http://www.microsoft.com/downloads/default.mspx

Note: From the Web site, search for SSMSE.

2. When the download has completed, run the executable file,

#### SQLServer2005\_SSMSEE.msi.

# 4 Operating the Lock

The G-2, G-152 and G-154 lock units are very similar in operation. Understanding how to use these locks, as well as their various security levels, will help you to better manage the access to the containers where these locks are installed.

This chapter describes how to operate the G-2 and the G-152/G-154 locks in these environments, including:

- Overview of the Lock
- Operating
- Government Access Codes
- Managing Super Master Codes

# **Overview of the Lock**

G-2, G-152 and G-154 lock units contain the electronics and physical locking hardware of the Gitcon Access Control System. These locks are compatible with existing door hardware on Sea Container, Intermodal, Truck/Trailer, Reefer, and Dry Container applications. These locks are meant for controlling and recording the access of these type of containers. The Transponder cards and Super Master (access) Codes are used to access the locks.

# **Security Operating Method**

There are two different types of programmed security operating methods.

- PIN Mode The Super Master (access) Codes are the primary means to access the lock.
- **Transponder (TAG) Mode** The Transponder cards are the primary means to access the lock.

The security operating method for each unit is set using the Gitcon Access Management Software when the unit detail is defined. For more information, refer to *Editing Unit Detail*.

# **LED Indicators**

There are four (Red, Yellow, Green and Blue) LED indicators on the G-2, G-152 and G-154 electronics. These illuminate and flash in a variety of patterns to indicate operational prompts and lock status. See Operating Sequence. The Red Battery Light indicates batteries are low and should be replaced.

# **LED Display**

The LED display on the G-2, G-152 and G-154 is a 4-digit alpha-numeric display that indicates operational prompts and lock status.

# Verifying the Lock Seal

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area

# **Operating Procedure**

The two programmed security operating methods have similar features with unique, userfriendly, operating sequences. The process of operating the G-2, G-152 and G-154 is also similar; however they have different mechanical features. We will now discuss each security operating method by product type.

# G-2; PIN Mode

#### Operating Sequence

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area.

#### Note: seal number cannot open lock.

• When **PIN** appears, press and release Red button. (This is where Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the **PIN** sub-menu four (4) dashed lines

(----) will appear on the LED screen.

- Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers.
- If a valid code has been entered the word OPEN will appear on the LED display. If code is not valid the word FAIL will appear on the LED. (If button is not pushed, "MENU" appears: see "Menu Operating Sequence")
- Plunge and lift the shackle to open lock

#### Note: If RED button is pressed when lock is open, LED displays "OPEN"

- Close lock
- New Seal number appears

#### *"Menu" Operating Sequence; From an Open Lock"*

- Press and hold RED button until the word **MENU** appears.
- When **MENU** appears on LED, press and release RED button two times. (The Lock will now enter the **MENU** sub section and will scroll through the options listed below.)

Note: If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

• Press and release RED button to enter sub-menu you desire

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; From a Sealed Lock

- Press and release the RED button. Unit will begin scrolling thru UNLK, SEAL and then MENU
- When **MENU** appears on the LED press and release the RED button three times to enter the **MENU**. (The Lock will now enter the **MENU** subsection and will scroll through the options listed below.)

Note: If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

Press and release RED button to enter sub menu you desire.

#### "Menu" Options and Definition

*Note:* A lock cannot be programmed when in a sealed state; this includes setting the clock, or placing the lock in passage mode.

- **PPC:** This is used to make programming changes or audit the lock with the Pocket PC. The Lock will begin alternately flashing the BLUE light and the RED Battery light indicating it is ready to connect to the Pocket PC.
- **PASS:** Used to put the unit into, or take out of, Passage Mode (The lock is always unsecured and acts only as a latch when in Passage Mode.) Any valid Transponder card can be used to perform this operation and will be shown in the software audit trail.
- **TAG:** To open the lock using a transponder. Green Light Flashes, Present Transponder "Open" Lock.
- **TIME:** The LED will display the Seal Number, Time and Date of the last time the unit was sealed.
- **LKID:** This is the lock identification as programmed into the unit. It displays what had been programmed in the software as the license plate information.
- VERS: Indicates what firmware version the lock is using.
- **LOCK:** Assures the lock and electronics are synchronized.

# G-2; Transponder (TAG) Mode

#### Operating Sequence; "Open" when Lock is "Sealed"

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area.
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- **Open** appears on LED display
- Plunge and lift the shackle to open lock

#### Operating Sequence; "Open" when Lock is "Not Sealed"

- Press and release Red button switch
- Press & Release Red Button again with "UNLK" prompt appears on the LED display
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- **Open** appears on LED display
- Plunge and lift the shackle to open lock

#### Operating Sequence; To "Seal" the Lock

- Close Lock
- Press and release Red button switch
- LED display will scroll thru UNLK, and then SEAL
- Press & Release Red Button again when "SEAL" prompt appears on the LED display
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- New "Seal Number" appears on the LED display

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; "Sealed" or "Open" Lock

- Press and hold RED button switch until the LED display scrolls to the word "MENU".
- Release RED button switch when "MENU" appears on the LED display. Now press and release the RED button two times (press and release, press and release) to enter the "MENU". (The Lock will now enter the "MENU" sub section and will scroll through the options listed below.

Note: If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

• Press and release RED button to enter sub-menu you desire.

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; "Locked" and "Not Sealed"

- Press and release the RED button. Unit will begin scrolling thru UNLK, SEAL and then MENU
- When MENU appears on the LED press and release the RED button three times to enter the MENU (The Lock will now enter the MENU sub section and will scroll through the options listed below)

Note: If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed

Press and release RED button to enter sub-menu you desire.

*"Menu" Options and Definition:* 

**Note:** A lock cannot be programmed when in a sealed state; this includes setting the clock, or placing the lock in passage mode.

- **PPC:** This is used to make programming changes or audit the lock with the Pocket PC. The Lock will begin alternately flashing the **BLUE light** and the **RED Battery light** indicating it is ready to connect to the Pocket PC.
- **PASS:** Used to put the unit into, or take out of, Passage Mode (The lock is always unsecured and acts only as a latch when in Passage Mode.) Any valid Transponder card can be used to perform this operation and will be shown in the software audit trail.
- **PIN:** (This is where Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the **PIN** sub menu four (4) dashed lines (----) will appear on the LED screen. Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers. If a valid code has been entered the word **OPEN** will appear on the LED display. If code is not valid the word **FAIL** will appear on the LED.
- **TIME:** The LED will display the **Seal Number**, **Time** and **Date** of the last time the unit was sealed.
- **LKID:** This is the lock identification as programmed into the unit. It displays what had been programmed in the software as the license plate information.
- VERS: Indicates what firmware version the lock is using
- **LOCK:** Assures the lock and electronics are synchronized.

# G-152 & G-154; PIN Mode

#### **Operating Sequence**

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area.

#### Note: seal number cannot open lock.

• When **PIN** appears, press and release Red button. (This is where Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the **PIN** sub-menu four (4) dashed lines

(----) will appear on the LED screen.

- Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers.
- If a valid code has been entered the word OPEN will appear on the LED display. If code is not valid the word FAIL will appear on the LED. (If button is not pushed, "MENU" appears: see "Menu Operating Sequence")
- Turn the dial on the lock body to the left to release handle.
- Lift handle from the lock body

Note: If RED button is pressed when lock is open, LED displays "OPEN."

- Close the lock by returning and latching the handle to the lock body.
  - New Seal number appears

•

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; "Sealed" or "Open" Lock

- Press and hold RED button switch until the LED display scrolls to the word "MENU".
- Release RED button switch when "MENU" appears on the LED display. Now press and release the RED button two times (press and release, press and release) to enter the "MENU". (The Lock will now enter the "MENU" sub section and will scroll through the options listed below.)

*Note:* If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

• Press and release RED button to enter sub menu you desire.

#### "Menu" Options and Definition

Note: A lock cannot be programmed when in a sealed state; this includes setting the clock, or placing the lock in passage mode.

- **PPC:** This is used to make programming changes or audit the lock with the Pocket PC. The Lock will begin alternately flashing the **BLUE light** and the **RED Battery light** indicating it is ready to connect to the Pocket PC.
- **PASS:** Used to put the unit into, or take out of, Passage Mode (The lock is always unsecured and acts only as a latch when in Passage Mode.) Any valid Transponder card can be used to perform this operation and will be shown in the software audit trail.
- TAG: To open the lock using a transponder. Green Light Flashes, Present Transponder "Open" Lock
- **TIME:** The LED will display the **Seal Number**, **Time** and **Date** of the last time the unit was sealed.
- **LKID:** This is the lock identification as programmed into the unit. It displays what had been programmed in the software as the license plate information.
- VERS: Indicates what firmware version the lock is using

# G-152 & G-154; Transponder (TAG) Mode

#### Operating Sequence; "Open" when Lock is "Sealed"

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area.
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- **Open** appears on LED display
- Turn the dial on the lock body to the left to release handle.
- Lift handle from the lock body

#### Operating Sequence; "Open" when Lock is "Not Sealed"

- Press and release Red button switch
- Press & Release Red Button again with "UNLK" prompt appears on the LED display
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- **Open** appears on LED display
- Turn the dial on the lock body to the left to release handle.
- Lift handle from the lock body

#### Operating Sequence; To "Seal" the Lock

- Close the lock by returning and latching the handle to the lock body
- Press and release Red button switch
- LED display will scroll thru UNLK, and then SEAL
- Press & Release Red Button again when "SEAL" prompt appears on the LED display
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- New "Seal Number" appears on the LED display

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; "Sealed" or "Open" Lock

- <u>Press</u> and <u>hold</u> RED button switch until the LED display scrolls to the word "**MENU**".
- Release RED button switch when "MENU" appears on the LED display. Now press and release the RED button two times (press and release, press and release) to enter the "MENU". (The Lock will now enter the "MENU" sub section and will scroll through the options listed below.)

**Note:** If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

• Press and release RED button to enter the sub menu you desire.

#### "Menu" Operating Sequence; "Locked" and "Not Sealed"

- Press and release the RED button. Unit will begin scrolling thru UNLK, SEAL and then MENU
- When **MENU** appears on the LED display press and release the RED button three times to enter the **MENU**. (The Lock will now enter the **MENU** sub section and will scroll through the options listed below.)

**Note:** If the button is not pushed the lock will power down after the last option is displayed.

Press and release RED button to enter the sub-menu you desire.

#### "Menu" Options and Definition

**Note:** A lock cannot be programmed when in a sealed state; this includes setting the clock, or placing the lock in passage mode.

- **PPC:** This is used to make programming changes or audit the lock with the Pocket PC. The Lock will begin alternately flashing the **BLUE light** and the **RED Battery light** indicating it is ready to connect to the Pocket PC.
- **PASS:** Used to put the unit into, or take out of, Passage Mode. (The lock is always unsecured and acts only as a latch when in Passage Mode.) Any valid Transponder card can be used to perform this operation and will be shown in the software audit trail.
- PIN: (This is where Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the PIN sub menu four (4) dashed lines (----) will appear on the LED screen. Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers. If a valid code has been entered the word OPEN will appear on the LED display. If code is not valid the word FAIL will appear on the LED.
- **TIME:** The LED will display the **Seal Number**, **Time** and **Date** of the last time the unit was sealed.
- **LKID:** This is the lock identification as programmed into the unit. It displays what had been programmed in the software as the license plate information.
- **VERS:** Indicates what firmware version the lock is using

# **Government Access Codes**

The use of a Government Access Code indicates a government authority requested and was granted access to the lock. This code only is used for identification; *it does not grant access to the lock.* 

The procedure for entering a government access code is the same for G-2 and G-152. The operating sequence is unique to the Security Method of the lock.

#### Transponder Mode

- Press and release Red button switch
- Seal number appears in the LED display area.
- When **PIN** appears, press and release Red button. (This is where Government Access Codes and Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the **PIN** sub-menu four (4) dashed lines (----) will appear on the LED screen.
- Enter the Government Access Code first. Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers.

- Enter Super Master Code
- If a valid code has been entered the word **OPEN** will appear on the LED display.
- The BLUE LED light will illuminate when the lock seal is verified.
- The BLUE LED light will no longer illuminate once a new seal number is generated.

#### PIN Mode

- Follow the "**MENU**" operating sequence required to enter the sub menu.
- When **PIN** appears, press and release Red button. (This is where Government Access Codes and Super Master Codes are entered to open the lock). Upon entering the **PIN** sub menu four (4) dashed lines (----) will appear on the LED screen.
- Enter the Government Access Code first. Press the RED button; this will advance the numbers from 0-9. After scrolling to the first number, release the button and the next dashed line will change to 0; begin scrolling for the second number. Repeat for third and fourth numbers.
- Green LED Light Flashes
- Present Transponder Card
- **Open** appears on LED display
- The BLUE LED light will illuminate when the lock seal is verified
- The BLUE LED light will no longer illuminate once a new seal number is generated

# **Managing Super Master Codes**

The Super Master Codes (SMC's) are the primary means to access the unit when it is programmed as a Lockable Electronic Seal. Locks programmed as a Sealable Lock have the option of using Super Master Codes. These randomly generated codes can only be used once by an operator. The Super Master Codes for each unit was set using the Gitcon Access Management Software when the unit detail was defined. For more information, refer to *Editing Unit Detail.* 

# **Dispatching a Super Master Code**

- Open the Unit Detail screen for the desired lock unit
- Click on the check box in the SMC column
- Click on the Save icon

| 5 65 Gh at at           | 000              | 1 10 1          | 8 12                | 0 50 50 50                | 🔲 às ca                |  |
|-------------------------|------------------|-----------------|---------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|--|
| A BA BA TO TO           | A (b) 10         | 2 1 1           | CE 109              | I HE HE HE                |                        |  |
| a la Attevan Units      | Unit Location    | DERVER ADM      | head,Alterte/Ad. Co | dance Field               | $\smile$               |  |
| S BERWAA                | D Livi Nerve     | Newsing         |                     |                           |                        |  |
| a E Atarta              | Linese Plate     |                 |                     |                           |                        |  |
| - ER Ad. Contamer/Terel | Liter Table      | 6-2             |                     |                           |                        |  |
|                         | SecurityLavel    | PIN             |                     |                           |                        |  |
|                         |                  | Cheetin Open    | ensel Atenia Code   |                           |                        |  |
|                         |                  | [ Chattin Super | Multi-Corp (SMC)    | Acres .                   |                        |  |
|                         | SMCCotes.        | 30 21           | and a               | And Barbert P. Photos Ann | Taxa BMC Description   |  |
|                         | Accessionel      |                 | H                   | United Column             | THE DOL COLUMN         |  |
|                         | Lat.th Period    | 4 2             |                     | Unsel                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  | U.S. Data Part  |                     | Unued                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | E                   | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Unuted                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Unesed                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Unused                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | 2                   | Unwood                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Under                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Unnel                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | E                   | Dagod                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | Unused                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | 8                   | Dased                     |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | H                   | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | 0                   | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | <b>0</b>            | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 | E                   | Unaped                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  |                 |                     | United                    |                        |  |
|                         |                  | 10000           |                     | the said                  |                        |  |
|                         |                  | fran Nor        | 7                   |                           | Generate New SMC Codes |  |
|                         | Seral Number     |                 |                     |                           |                        |  |
|                         | Farmers Von or   | 11.81           |                     |                           |                        |  |
|                         | Commissioned B   | WHEIDCONCE!     | 5N                  |                           |                        |  |
|                         | Commence agent C | Mar 8 2000 2 18 | PM                  |                           |                        |  |

•

• The Super Master Code is displayed and who dispatched the code. The Date and Time the code was dispatched is also displayed

The Super Master Code can now be given to the operator to open the lock unit.

| 医医骨骨引引   |   |               |  |  |
|--|---|---------------|--|--|
| <ul> <li>Marvers</li> <li>Schuttera</li> </ul> | Did Locatos<br>Unit Nexa<br>Locatos Tribio<br>Unit Type<br>Sociatry Level<br>SMC Code<br>Access Level<br>Lates Parcet | BEDUER Addaed | Althentic Af Contaces Fact   |  |
|  |   | Ener Set      | United     United     United     United     United     United     United     United     United |  |
|  | Band Number<br>Firmson Vento<br>Commonwealth  |               |  |  |

An audit of the lock unit will update the audit status column of the Unit Detail screen. The Date and Time the Super Master Code was used by the operator to open the lock is displayed.

| 5 6 @ al al      |                                   | 1 10 1                     |  |  |
|------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|
|                  |                                   |                            |  |  |
| SERVIE A         | Und Location.                     | SERVER Allow               | ad/Meth/W. Colaser Pert                              |  |
| in Q Southeast   | CARTINEE                          | New UNF                    |  |  |
| a Sa Aflanta     | Linnae Pide                       | -                          |  |  |
| AN ALCORE IN THE | Can't Type:                       | 0.5                        |  |  |
|                  | <ul> <li>Decutty Level</li> </ul> | P101                       |  |  |
|                  |                                   | Destile Gover              | wert Access Code                                     |  |
|                  | 220122002110                      | Datt's Suce                | tailer Dote (SMC) Access                             |  |
|                  | EMCCOMM                           | 20                         | SMC Auditouto Depatries Time SMC Depatries           |  |
|                  | Access Level                      |                            | 2 765 May 8 2082 36 PM 69-40000000 May 8 200 2 34 PM |  |
|                  | Lake Percet                       | Second Second              | (base)   |  |
|                  |                                   | BUS Devfo                  | Land Used  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Li eeee United                                       |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | UNDYC UNDYC  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Callero Callero                                      |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | included   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | unand Unand  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | and United   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | ann Daard  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | eeee Unuted  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | unad Unad  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | eeee Deared  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Decent United  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | La eeee Ukand  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Lated United   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Lange even   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | L ++++ UNDED   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | Fl   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | in the linest  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | and United   |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | unged Unged  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | and the United                                       |  |
|                  |                                   |                            | area United  |  |
|                  |                                   | Construction of the second | UP and the second                                    |  |
|                  |                                   | Ermei fitzt                | Generate New SMC Codes                               |  |
|                  | Decid Norther                     | -                          |  |  |
|                  | Fireman Versio                    | 1.1.21                     |  |  |
|                  |                                   |                            |  |  |

•

# **Generating New Super Master Codes**

- Open the Unit Detail screen for the desired lock unit
- Click on "Generate New SMC Codes"
- Click on the Save icon

| s 🗣 Al Servero           | List Location                  | SERVER AlconteantAdamsAd. Container Tear |           |                |            |                        |  |
|--------------------------|--------------------------------|--|-----------|----------------|------------|------------------------|--|
| SERVERA                  | C Lind Name                    | New Lint                                 |           |                |            |                        |  |
| Bostheast                | Linema Plete                   |  |           |                |            | 1                      |  |
| a 28 All Container Pleat | Line Turke                     | 0.3                                      |           |                |            | 0                      |  |
|                          | The state of the state         | inter a                                  |           |                |            |                        |  |
|                          | Long Long                      | C Directio Comment                       | and here  | an Prefe       |            |                        |  |
|                          | -                              | Contraction Convertion                   | and Acces | NELLOOP        |            |                        |  |
|                          | BMC Come                       | The second second second second          | land a    | N DE WALFPLANE | 1212-121-1 | Managara Matel         |  |
|                          | Antonia Land                   |  | SMC       | AutoStelle     | Department | Time SMC Eispatcheil   |  |
|                          | Land David                     |  | 8 .       | United         |            |                        |  |
|                          | Later Parod                    | CRIS Care Former                         | 1         | United         |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                | (e) o.o. oner / orien                    | in .      | tingent        |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | n         | ee Unged       |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | D         | us United      |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | D         | United         |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 0         | ··· Unmed      |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | una United     |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | Unued          |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | ee Unused      |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | used United    |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | ··· Unsed      |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 1         | unad Unused    |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 2         | ••• Uscold     |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | Unused         |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 1.        | united United  |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 10 .      | unued Unued    |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 8 .       | United         |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | 10 .      | Chilled        |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | H .:      | Unused Linuted |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | n .       | Under          |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | m .       | Unand          |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | ñ         | Encad          |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  |           | the United     |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                |  | E.        | tes Delars     |            |                        |  |
|                          |                                | Enter Not                                | _         |                |            | Generate New SMC Codes |  |
|                          | Resid Mondaet                  | 10 34 3                                  |           |                |            |                        |  |
|                          | Einsteinen Vomine              |  | -         |                |            |                        |  |
|                          | Contraction of the local state |  |           |                |            |                        |  |
|                          | Commissioned By                |  |           |                |            |                        |  |

- Click on the Unit Explorer icon
- Right click on the Unit to be updated in the Detail Area
- Click on "Create Pocket PC Update File"

| P 🗣 🕸 31 31                            |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|--|-------|--------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|--|
| SERVER A                               | D Loc | ation: SERVER A\So | utheast\Atlanta\Atl. Co       | ntainer Fleet |  |
| a Ga Atanta<br>IST All Container Freet | Une   | License Plate Ty   | pe Accessizevel St<br>Refresh |               |  |
|  | 2     |                    | Choite Pocket PC Upland Fi    | 38            |  |
|  |       |                    | Delete                        |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |
|  |       |                    |                               |               |  |

•

A new file for the lock unit has been generated and will be transferred the next time you synchronize your Pocket PC. For more information, refer to *Programming the Lock*.

| 16 16 <b>46 49</b> 49   |                 |   |  | 808                     |  |
|---|-----------------|---|--|-------------------------|--|
| SERVER A<br>SERVER A<br>Contexest<br>At Arrise<br>At Contexest Firest | De Locat        | ion: SERVER A\Southe                            | ast\Atlanta\Atl. Containe  | r Fleet                 |  |
|   | Uni<br>New Unit | License Plate i Type<br>Gr2                     | Actess Lavel Statu<br>8 Out of Date                                    |                         |  |
|   |                 | Pocket PC<br>A configuration<br>the next time y | Re for each ant was generated and<br>ou synchronize your Pocket PC han | will be upbaded afterd. |  |
|   |                 |   |  |                         |  |
|   |                 |   |  |                         |  |
|   |                 |   |  |                         |  |

# **5** Programming and Auditing Locks

The Pocket PC or Smart Phone is used to transfer (upload) data to and receive (download) data from the locks for the purpose of programming and auditing the locks. The items explained in this chapter include the following:

- The Pocket PC / Smart Phone
- Programming the Lock
- Auditing the Lock
- Managing Manifests

# The Pocket PC

The Pocket PC has its own version of the Gitcon Access Management Software. Instead of serving as a database, its main function is to receive and transmit upload files between the PC version of the database and the lock units. This is how physical Gitcon locks receive the functional information that is created in the database.

This data should be updated at the lock as often as it is changed on the PC database. In addition to the PC upload files, the Pocket PC is the instrument for collecting the detailed audit files from the locks and transmitting them to the PC version of the Gitcon Access Management Software. The PC version of the database then uses this audit data to produce a number of detailed reports to track user and lock activities in your organization.

The Pocket PC is a small handheld computer running Microsoft Windows Mobile that is capable of running Gitcon PPC, the Pocket PC version of the Access Management Software. The Pocket PC communicates with the PC version of the database through its cradle and the Microsoft ActiveSync program. This program exchanges the PC upload files from the PC and audit files from the Pocket PC as needed. The Pocket PC receives the audit files from and transfers upload files to the locks through a required infrared port. The infrared receiver and transmitter on the Pocket PC, when aligned with those of the lock, transfers data from the Pocket PC to the lock (program) or from the lock to the Pocket PC (audit).

We will now discuss the functions of the Pocket PC in the Gitcon Access Control System.

# Starting the Gitcon Software on the Pocket PC

Complete the following steps to begin the Gitcon Access Management Software for the Pocket PC.

1. Turn on the Pocket PC and select **Programs**. Locate the Gitcon icon and double-click it to open the Gitcon PPC application.



The system displays the password prompt.



2. Enter your password and tap Connect.

Once you have entered a valid a password, you can now connect the Pocket PC to a lock unit through the infrared transmitter or enter a command selected from the **Menu**.

# **Connecting to the Lock Unit**

Before you can perform any maintenance (PC upload or audit download) at the lock unit with the Pocket PC, you must first connect to the lock unit through the infrared signal. This confirms that a clear path of communication exists for the data traveling in either direction between the lock unit and the Pocket PC.

Even if you will not be performing any maintenance at the lock, connecting to the lock unit with the Pocket PC is a quick way to identify and gain important information about the status of the lock.

Complete the following steps to connect the Pocket PC to a lock unit.

**Note:** The lock unit must be unsealed and in PPC mode. The lock flashes red and blue LEDs.

1. Turn on the Pocket PC and start the Gitcon Access Management Software for the Pocket PC. For more information, refer to *Starting the Gitcon Software on the Pocket PC*. The system displays a "waiting" message.



2. Point the Pocket PC's infrared transmitter at the lock unit's infrared transmitter at a distance of about six inches.



After a few seconds, the Pocket PC should indicate that it has connected with the lock.

3. If the lock has been programmed, the Pocket PC will display the lock's general configuration information, including its Name, Unit Group, Location, Region, Server, and License Plate.



Tap **Next** to view the physical statistics for the lock unit.



The Pocket PC displays the following information for the lock unit.

- Local Time
- UTC Time
- Firmware Version
- Battery Voltage
- Processor Voltage
- Button State
- Lock Position

# **Programming the Lock**

Once you have started the Gitcon Access Management Software for the Pocket PC and have created the PC Upload File in the PC version of the Access Management Software, programming a lock unit is easy. This section assumes that you are already familiar with the following:

- **Commissioning a Pocket PC** on page 2–14.
- Creating the Pocket PC Upload File on page 2–15.
- ActiveSyncing the Pocket PC on page 2–15.

**Note:** The lock unit must be unsealed and in PPC mode. The lock flashes red and blue LEDs.

Complete the following steps to program a lock unit from the Pocket PC upload file that is located on the Pocket PC.

1. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, simply point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at the lock unit's infrared sensor to connect with the lock. After a few seconds, the Pocket PC should indicate that it has connected with the lock.



*Note:* If the lock unit has not been programmed, the Pocket PC displays (*unknown unit*) next to the connection message.

2. Select **Menu | Units | Change ID** to program the lock unit from the Pocket PC Upload File.

| 7         |                       |          |
|-----------|-----------------------|----------|
|           | Take Audit<br>Uodate  | Units 🔸  |
|           | Change ID             | Audits > |
| Disconner | Manifest<br>Set Clock | Menu     |

The system displays a replica of the tree area from the Unit Explorer view of the Access Management Software.

| nocket Gitcon      | +* <mark>x</mark> ◀€ 2:52 ok |
|--------------------|------------------------------|
| 1 2101             | GITCON                       |
| 📧 📕 Great Lakes Lo | ogistics                     |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
|                    |                              |
| Cancel             | Menu                         |

3. Expand the tree until you find and select the unit whose configuration file you want to use to program the lock unit. Tap the unit's name in the tree and select **Send File** from the menu that the Pocket PC displays.



The Pocket PC then transfers the Unit Detail information that was defined on the PC from the Pocket PC to the lock unit. Now, whenever you connect to the lock unit through the Pocket PC's infrared transmitter, the Pocket PC displays the lock data, similar to the following:



# **Updating the Lock**

Updating a lock unit is very similar to programming the lock with one exception. The lock has already been identified, so you will not need to select the Unit from the tree view. You should update a lock unit as often as information for the lock is updated on the PC.

Complete the following steps to update the lock from the Pocket PC Upload File generated by the PC.

- 1. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at the lock unit's infrared sensor to connect with the lock you want to update.
- 2. While still connected to the lock, select **Menu | Units | Update** to update the lock unit from the Pocket PC Upload File.

| P                 | ·          |            |
|-------------------|------------|------------|
|                   | Take Audit |            |
| The second second | Update     | Units P    |
|                   | Change ID  | Audits 🕨 a |
| T                 | Manifest   | Exit       |
| Disconne          | Set Clock  | Menu       |

The system updates the lock unit with the updated data from the Pocket PC Upload File.

# **Auditing the Lock**

Auditing the lock is similar to programming the lock; however, instead of uploading a file to the lock, the Pocket PC downloads all of the user and access activities that have occurred at the lock. The action data that are collected are uploaded to the PC, where you can use the audit data to produce meaningful reports for user and lock access management.

The following sections describe collecting audit data from a lock unit.

- Setting Up the Audit Parameters
- Taking Audits
- Viewing Audit Data
- Deleting Audits

# **Setting Up the Audit Parameters**

You must first set up the audit parameters. The data that are audited from the lock can be limited by one of a number of different criteria. The following options are available for limiting the audit data that are downloaded to the Pocket PC.

- All Audits The Pocket PC displays all of the audits and they are downloaded to the Pocket PC.
- Limit by Number You can select a finite number of audits to view. When you make this selection, the Pocket PC displays a field that allows you to enter the number of audits to view.



**Limit by Days** – You can select finite number of days. The Pocket PC displays all audits from the selected period. When you make this selection, the Pocket PC displays a field that allows you to enter the number of days to audit.



•

**Limit by Date** – You can select a date. The Pocket PC displays all audits from the selected date to the present. When you make this selection, the Pocket PC displays a field that allows you to select the start date for the audit from a drop-down calendar.



Complete the following steps to audit and download the lock activity data to the Pocket PC.

- 1. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at the lock unit's infrared sensor to connect to the lock unit.
- 2. While connected to the lock, select **Menu | Audits | Setup** to open the audit parameter selection screen.



The system displays the audit parameter selection screen.



- 3. Select the parameter by which you want to limit the audits that are returned.
- 4. Enter the value that corresponds to the parameter that you have selected (number of audits, days, or a date).
- 5. When you are finished, tap **Done**.

The system then uses the selected parameter for any audits that are downloaded to the Pocket PC.

### **Taking Audits**

Now that you understand how to set the parameter for the audits and view the audit data on the Pocket PC, you are ready to download the audit data to the Pocket PC for upload to the PC version of the Access Management Software.

Complete the following steps to download the audit data to the Pocket PC.

- 1. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at a lock unit's infrared sensor to connect to the lock unit.
- 2. While connected to the lock, select **Menu | Units | Take Audit** to download the audit data for the selected parameter and lock unit.



The Pocket PC displays the progress indicator while the audit data are downloaded.



3. When the Pocket PC has completed the download of audit data from the lock unit, it displays the following message to indicate success.



4. Tap OK to exit.

The audit data now resides on the Pocket PC, and will be transferred to the PC during the next ActiveSync session. The audit remains on the Pocket PC and can be viewed or deleted.

# **Viewing Audit Data**

Now that you understand how to take audits for a lock unit, you can also view the audit data on the Pocket PC. The **View** option allows users to see any of the audits on the Pocket PC.

Complete the following steps to view an audit on the Pocket PC.

1. Select Menu | Audits | View to view the list of audits contained on the Pocket PC.



The system displays the audit list screen. This screen lists all of the audits that currently reside on the Pocket PC. You can resize the columns by tapping and dragging the lines in the header row.



2. Tap the name of the audit you want to view and select **Open** from the list that appears.



3. The Pocket PC displays all of the actions that are contained in the selected audit.

| 🚪 Gitcon for Pocket PC 🧞 📢 3:32 🛛 ok |                 |  |
|--------------------------------------|-----------------|--|
|                                      | GITCON          |  |
| Timestamp                            | Event 🔺         |  |
| 7/6/06 3:31:05 PM                    | Enter Command = |  |
| 7/6/06 3:26:59 PM                    | Access Granted  |  |
| 7/6/06 3:26:59 PM                    | Access Granted  |  |
| 7/6/06 3:26:59 PM                    | Unseal By Numb  |  |
| 7/6/06 2:59:08 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:57:53 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:57:01 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:56:36 PM                    | Bad Seal Entry  |  |
| 7/6/06 2:55:56 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:54:39 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:52:45 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:51:04 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
| 7/6/06 2:02:02 PM                    | Enter Command   |  |
|                                      | •               |  |
| Done 📖                               | Menu            |  |
4. When you are finished, click **OK** to exit.

## **Deleting Audits**

Complete the following steps to delete an audit from the Pocket PC.

**Note:** You should not delete an audit until it has been uploaded to the PC through ActiveSync.

1. Select Menu | Audits | View to view the list of audits contained on the Pocket PC.



The system displays the audit list screen. This screen lists all of the audits that currently reside on the Pocket PC. You can resize the columns by tapping and dragging the lines in the header row.



2. Tap the name of the audit you want to view and select **Delete** from the list that appears.

| fitcon for Pock   | tet PC 🔸 | × <b>4</b> € 3:32 | ok |
|-------------------|----------|-------------------|----|
|                   | •        | GITCO             | N  |
| Date              | Unit     |                   |    |
| 7/6/06 3:32:10 PM | Side     | Open<br>Delete    |    |
| Done              | 1220     | Menu              |    |

# **Managing Manifests**

The G2 and G152 lock units can also contain manifests for the contents of the containers. Users can create a manifest for a lock unit, as well as view and edit existing manifests using the Pocket PC.

The manifest records that are contained in the lock unit only carry the following pieces of information.

- Name The name of the manifest. This is usually the type of freight that is being carried.
- Quantity The quantity of specified freight being carried in the container.
- ID The manifest ID. Each manifest should have a unique number in your organization.
- Description A more detailed description of the freight. This can include what the measure of quantity is (such as each, pack, and case).

The following sections describe managing manifests on a lock unit.

- Adding a Manifest
- Viewing or Editing a Manifest
- Deleting a Manifest

#### **Adding a Manifest**

Complete the following steps to add a manifest to the lock unit, using the Pocket PC.

- 3. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at a lock unit's infrared sensor to connect to lock.
- 4. While connected to the lock, select **Menu | Units | Manifest** to view the list of audits contained on the Pocket PC.

|           | Take Audit | Units 🕨  |
|-----------|------------|----------|
|           | Change ID  | Audits > |
| T         | Manifest   | Exit     |
| Disconnei | Set Clock  | Menu     |

The Pocket PC displays the Manifest List. You can resize the columns by tapping and dragging on the lines in the list header.

| 📌 Gitcon for Pocket PC 🦏 📢 3:36 🛛 ok |        |          |        |          |  |
|--------------------------------------|--------|----------|--------|----------|--|
| aaaago)<br>Mille                     | 1      | r !!     | GITC   | :ON      |  |
| Name                                 | ID     | Quantity | Date M | lodified |  |
| BREAD                                | 135279 | 14       | 7/6/06 | 3:36:00  |  |
| •                                    |        |          |        | •        |  |
| Do                                   | ne     | 1000     | Me     | nu       |  |

5. Tap the Manifest List and select **Add** from the list that appears.

| Name  | ID     | Quantity |                     | Dat | e Modified  |
|-------|--------|----------|---------------------|-----|-------------|
| BREAD | 135279 | 14       | Add<br>Edit<br>Dele | ate | (06 3:36:0) |
|       |        | 1        | Del                 | ate |             |

The system displays the Manifest Detail screen for the newly created manifest.



6. Enter the **Name**, **Quantity**, **ID**, or **Description** fields in the **Manifest Detail** screen as needed. When you are finished, click **OK** to save the new manifest.

### Viewing or Editing a Manifest

Complete the following steps to view a manifest on the Pocket PC.

7. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at a lock unit's infrared sensor to connect to the lock.

8. While connected to the lock, select **Menu | Units | Manifest** to view the list of audits contained on the Pocket PC.

| State of the second sec |            |          |
|--|------------|----------|
|  | Take Audit | Units 🕨  |
|  | Change ID  | Audits > |
| 101  | Manifest   | Exit     |
| Disconnei  | Set Clock  | Menu     |

The Pocket PC displays the Manifest List. You can resize the columns by tapping and dragging on the lines in the list header.

| 🏄 Gitcon for Pocket PC 🧞 📢 3:36 🛛 ok |        |          |                |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--------|----------|----------------|--|--|
| ininini<br>Mili                      | 1      |          | GITCON         |  |  |
| Name                                 | ID     | Quantity | Date Modified  |  |  |
| BREAD                                | 135279 | 14       | 7/6/06 3:36:03 |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
| 4                                    |        |          | •              |  |  |
| Do                                   | ne     | 1920     | Menu           |  |  |

9. If you want to edit a manifest, tap the row of the manifest you want to edit and select **Edit** from the list that appears.

| Name  | ID     | Quantity |                     | Dat        | e Modified |
|-------|--------|----------|---------------------|------------|------------|
| BREAD | 135279 | 14       | Add<br>Edit<br>Dele | ave<br>ete | 06 3:36:0  |

The system displays the Manifest Detail screen.

| fitcon      | for Pocke | EPC + <sup>#</sup> × • | € 3:35                | ok |
|-------------|-----------|------------------------|-----------------------|----|
|             |           | G                      | TCO                   | N  |
| Name        | BREAD     | 4801                   | and the second second |    |
| Quantity    | 14        | ALC: UP                | <b>^</b>              |    |
| ID          | 135279    |                        | - P                   |    |
| Description |           |                        |                       | 00 |
| LOAF        |           |                        |                       |    |
|             |           |                        |                       |    |
|             |           |                        |                       |    |
|             |           |                        |                       |    |
|             |           |                        |                       |    |
| Save        | E         | <b>z</b>               | Menu                  |    |

10. Edit the **Name**, **Quantity**, **ID**, or **Description** fields in the Manifest Detail screen as needed. When you are finished, click **OK** to save.

## **Deleting a Manifest**

Complete the following steps to delete a manifest from the lock unit.

- 11. After you have logged into the Pocket PC Access Management Application, point the Pocket PC's infrared sensor at a lock unit's infrared sensor to connect to the lock.
- 12. While connected to the lock unit, select **Menu | Units | Manifest** to view the list of audits contained on the Pocket PC.

| and the second |            | - State  |
|----------------|------------|----------|
|                | Take Audit | Units +  |
|                | Change ID  | Audits + |
| 101            | Manifest   | Exit     |
| Disconne       | Set Clock  | Menu     |

The Pocket PC displays the Manifest List. You can resize the columns by tapping and dragging on the lines in the list header.

| 👫 Gitcon for Pocket PC 🡫 🕂 3:36 🛛 ok |        |          |                |  |  |
|--------------------------------------|--------|----------|----------------|--|--|
| aaaagii<br>Will                      | 1      |          | GITCON         |  |  |
| Name                                 | ID     | Quantity | Date Modified  |  |  |
| BREAD                                | 135279 | 14       | 7/6/06 3:36:03 |  |  |
|                                      |        |          |                |  |  |
| -                                    |        |          | •              |  |  |
| Do                                   | ne     | 1220     | Menu           |  |  |

13. Tap the row of the manifest you want to delete and select **Delete** from the list that appears.

| Name  | ID     | Qu | antity      | Date | e Modified |
|-------|--------|----|-------------|------|------------|
| BREAD | 135279 | 14 | Add<br>Edit | 710  | 06 3:36:0  |
|       |        |    | Dele        | ate  |            |
|       |        |    |             |      |            |

The system will then delete the selected manifest from the lock unit.

## **Creating Email Audit Event Triggers**

The DXT-22 Post Office allows the Gitcon Access Management Software administrator the option to initiate email triggers for the following event audits.

- 1. Transponder (TAG) access denied
- 2. Deleted transponder (TAG) presented
- 3. Wrong PIN code entered
- 4. Passage mode was entered
- 5. Access was granted in conjunction with Government Access Code
- 6. DXT-22 Post Office off line

This option is a Microsoft Windows event. Creating an email trigger requires a stored procedure to run within the Gitcon database. (Contact Factory) An example procedure to generate an email trigger can be found at the following Microsoft link:

http://www.vistax64.com/tutorials/67961-event-viewer-email-notification.html

Document Number 605.106 Rev. E – 1/09



Kaba Mas LLC 749 W. Short Street, Lexington, KY 40508 USA Phone: (859) 253-4744 FAX:(859) 255-2655 Customer Service: (800) 650-4744 www.kaba-mas.com